
 
Published and despatched by democracy@southkesteven.gov.uk on Wednesday, 26 October 2022.  

 01476 406080 
Karen Bradford, Chief Executive 

www.southkesteven.gov.uk 

Planning 
Committee  

     
 

 

Thursday, 3 November 2022 at 1.00 pm 
Council Chamber - Council Offices,  

St. Peter's Hill, Grantham. NG31 6PZ 
 

 

Committee 
Members: 

 

Councillor David Bellamy (Chairman) 
Councillor Penny Milnes (Vice-Chairman) 
 

Councillor Harrish Bisnauthsing, Councillor John Cottier, Councillor Mrs Rosemary 
Kaberry-Brown, Councillor Nick Robins, Councillor Penny Robins, Councillor Ian 
Selby, Councillor Judy Stevens, Councillor Ian Stokes, Councillor Paul Wood, 
Vacancy (Alliance SK) and Vacancy (Conservative) 
 

Agenda 
 

 This meeting can be watched as a live stream, or at a later 
date, via the SKDC YouTube Channel 

 

 

1.   Register of attendance and apologies for absence 
 

 

2.   Disclosure of interests 
 

Members are asked to disclose any interests in matters for consideration at the 
meeting. 
 

 

3.   Minutes of the meeting held on 8 September 2022 
 
 

(Pages 3 - 16) 

 Planning matters 
 

To consider applications received for the grant of 
planning permission – reports prepared by the Case 

Officer. 

The anticipated order of consideration is as shown on the 
agenda, but this may be subject to change, at the discretion 

of the Chairman of the Committee. 

 
 

 

mailto:democracy@southkesteven.gov.uk
http://www.southkesteven.gov.uk/
http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/mgMemberIndex.aspx?bcr=1
https://twitter.com/intent/tweet?text=Meeting%20agenda%20@southkesteven
http://www.linkedin.com/shareArticle?mini=true&url=http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/mgWhatsNew.aspx?bcr=1
http://facebook.com/sharer/sharer.php?u=http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/mgWhatsNew.aspx?bcr=1
https://www.youtube.com/user/SouthKestevenDC


 

 
4.   Application S22/0978 

 

Proposal:                    Erection of 9(no) houses and associated vehicular 
access 

Location:                    Former Shirley Croft Hotel Site, Harrowby Road, 
Grantham 

Recommendation:     To authorise the Assistant Director to GRANT 
planning permission, subject to conditions 

 

(Pages 17 - 66) 

5.   Any other business, which the Chairman, by reason of special 
circumstances, decides is urgent 
 

 



 
 

Minutes 
 

Planning Committee 
 

Thursday, 8 September 2022, 1.00 pm 
 

Council Chamber - South Kesteven 
House, St. Peter's Hill, Grantham. 
NG31 6PZ 

 

 

Committee Members present 
  

 

Councillor David Bellamy (Chairman) 
Councillor Penny Milnes (Vice-Chairman) 
 

Councillor Ashley Baxter 
Councillor Harrish Bisnauthsing 
Councillor Gloria Johnson 
Councillor Nick Robins 
Councillor Penny Robins 
Councillor Ian Selby 
Councillor Judy Stevens 
Councillor Paul Wood 
 

 

Officers in attendance 
 

 

Nicola McCoy-Brown (Director for Growth and Culture) 
Graham Watts (Assistant Director of Governance) 
Emma Whittaker (Assistant Director of Planning) 
Philip Jordan (Principal Planning Officer) 
Ellie Sillah (Senior Planning Officer) 
Catherine Sutton (Assistant Planning Officer) 
Shemuel Sheikh (Legal Advisor) 
Sarah Downs (Democratic Services Officer) 
 

 

 
26. Apologies for absence 

 
Apologies for absence had been received from Councillors Ian Stokes and John 
Cottier. 

 
Councillor Gloria Johnson substituted for Councillor Rosemary Kaberry-Brown. 

 
Councillor Ashley Baxter had been appointed for the Alliance SK vacancy. 

 
27. Disclosure of interests 

 
No interests were disclosed. 

 
 

3

Agenda Item 3



 
 

28. Minutes of the meeting held on 11 August 2022 
 

Clarification was sought by a Member of the Committee as to whether the applicant 
would return to a future Planning Committee or a Full Council meeting as the 
applicant was not present at the meeting of 11 August 2022 and this was not clear 
within the minutes. 

 
 A further query was raised as to whether a substantive vote was carried out following 
the Mallard Pass application and the Assistant Director of Governance informed the 
Committee that Councillor Dilks had specifically asked that his vote be recorded 
within the minutes and therefore noted.  The Assistant Director of Governance 
clarified that the minutes referred to the application being heard, not the applicant. 

 
A Member of the Committee asked for clarity on the voting procedure, specifically 
voting on an amendment to a motion as this may have been difficult for the general 
public to follow.  A copy of the relevant procedure correspondence was agreed to be 
provided by the Assistant Director of Governance. 

 
The minutes of the meeting held on 11 August 2022 were proposed, seconded, and 
AGREED as a correct record.   

 
29. Application S21/1906 

 
Proposal:                                  Reserved matters for appearance, layout, scale and 

access for the erection of 70 dwellings following 
Outline permission S18/2379. 

Location:                                   Land West Off A1 And North of Bourne Road, 
Colsterworth 

Recommendation:                   To authorise the Assistant Director of Planning to 
approve the submitted reserved matters details, 
subject to conditions outlined in this report 

 
Noting comments made in the public speaking session by: 

 
Applicant Representative: Paul Jarvis and Margaret Clarke, Drainage Experts. 
Agent:                                Aaron Gibbons 
Against:                             Arthur Marshall – Resident. 

 
Together with: 

 

• Provisions within the South Kesteven Local Plan 2011-2036, Design Guidelines 
for Rutland and South Kesteven Supplementary Planning Document, the 
National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF), Lincolnshire Minerals and Waste 
Local Plan and the Colsterworth and District Neighbourhood Plan 2016-2026. 

• Comments received from Colsterworth Parish Council. 

• Comments received from Lincolnshire County Council (Highways & SuDS). 

• No comments received from SKDC Environmental Health Officer. 

4



 
 

• Comments from Anglian Water received 7 September 2022 – update via 
presentation. 

• No comments received from National Highways. 

• No objection from Environment Agency. 

• Comments received from the Council’s Project Partnership Officer. 

• No comments received from Historic England. 

• No comments received from Gardens Trust. 

• No comments received from Lincolnshire Fire and Rescue Services. 
 

During questions to public speakers, Members commented on: 
 

• What the volume of the attenuation pond was.  The applicant did not have 
confirmation of the volume to hand but was able to confirm that it was designed 
to accommodate a 1 in a hundred-year storm event and 40% climate change. 

• Acknowledgement was given of past flooding in the area of Bourne Road Estate 
and a query was raised as to whether the development would exacerbate or 
reduce the problem.  The applicant confirmed that rainfall would be directed into 
a suds pond of the southern boundary of the development, potentially reducing 
the amount of excess water by 60%.  

• Did the new information recently received change the validity of the drainage 
report?  The applicant informed the Committee that the drainage remains 
unchanged as they were to provide an outlet for the surface water.  

• Was the applicant certain that the measures they were proposing to put in place 
would alleviate the risk of flooding?  The applicant informed that by reducing the 
amount of water flow they were improving the situation.  The Assistant Director 
of Planning added that absolute confidence of no future flooding was not 
possible but that the Planning department would look to ascertain that the 
situation would not be made worse.  They were unable to insist that the 
applicant has to improve a pre-existing situation.     

• Was the attenuation pond separate from the play area?  The applicant 
confirmed that the attenuation pond was not close to the play equipment. 

• What was the requirement for acoustic glazing?  The applicant confirmed that 
creating an air gap between the glazing was to reduce the decibels of noise into 
the housing. 

• What sustainability measures were there on the development?  The applicant 
informed Members that housing was to be given high efficiency insulation and 
the plans  
 

During questions to officers and debate, Members commented on: 
 

• Can the Planning Committee insist that applicants apply more than the bare 
minimum in building regulations?  The Planning Officer confirmed that a 
condition had been added to ensure the development complies with Policy SB1 
which refers to sustainable building including energy consumption.  The Officer 
further confirmed that the current building regulations covered this already. 

• What happens if Anglian Water don’t adopt the drainage plan?  The Assistant 
Director of Planning confirmed that there was no obligation for the drainage plan 

5



 
 

to be adopted by Anglian Water but in the event that they don’t adopt the plan, a 
private company would take over. 

• Is there enough capacity within the electric grid to manage an additional 70 
properties in Colsterworth?  The applicant confirmed that a new substation was 
required for the development on the south-western corner and that electrical 
capacity had been secured. 

• Whether the overlooking issues raised involving plot 13 been addressed?  The 
Planning Officer confirmed that amendments had been made to improve the 
distance between properties and that there was no direct overlooking of 
Meadow Close. It was also acknowledged that plots 18 and 19 were now 
bungalows.  

• It was acknowledged that there was a need for such affordable homes along 
with single-storey dwellings and that the applicant had worked well with the 
Council. 

• Could safety signs and a life ring be installed at the attenuation pond?  The 
Planning Officer agreed this could be done. 

• A Member asked if obscured glass could be fitted to the bathroom window of 
Plot 13.  The Planning Officer agreed the glass could be added.   
 

(Councillors Harrish Bisnauthsing and Gloria Johnson were unable to participate in 
voting on the application due to not being present for part of the presentation or 
debate) 

 
It was proposed, seconded and AGREED to authorise the Assistant Director of 
Planning to approve the submitted reserved matters details, subject to the conditions 
set out below and; 

 
The Assistant Director of Planning is authorised to make minor changes to those 
conditions providing they don’t alter the meaning or substance of the condition.  

 
In addition, 3 further conditions were proposed and agreed, to include the addition of 
obscured glass in the bathroom window of plot 13, safety signage and a life ring by 
the attenuation pond. The additional conditions and any minor changes have been 
included below, wording has been agreed with Assistant Director of Planning.  

 
 Conditions  

 
1. The development hereby permitted shall be carried out in accordance with the 

following list of approved plans:  
1303-004 Rev S Planning Layout  
JH 06/07/22 3 bed bungalow (Plots 18 and 19)  
20794-HYD-XX-XX-DR-C-0210 Rev T1 Basin Section  
PH406.1/3.1 Rev B Somerton plots 50 and 54  
PH302.1 Amended Sherbourne (applies to Plot 63)  
PH302.3 Amended Appleby (applies to Plots 16, 57, 66 and 69)  
PH406.2 Amended Somerton (Plots 26, 50 and 54)  
PH406.3 Amended Whitton (Plots 2, 15, and 49)  
PH409.1 Amended Boughton (Plots 3, 4, 11, 13, 14, 17, 20 , 23, 56, 61, and 68)  

6



 
 

PH411.1 Amended Bamburgh (Plot 53)  
PH411.2 Amended Bamburgh (Plots 48 and 60)  
PH413.3 Amended Haddon (Plots 21, 38, 39, 40, 58, 59, 62, 64, 65, and 70)  
PH418.1 Amended Wentworth (Plots 1 and 22)  
PH418.1 Amended Wentworth (Plots 24, 25, 55, and 67)  
PH507.6 Amended Buckingham (Plots 12, 51, 52)  
G101.1 Single Garage  
G201.1 Double Garage  
PH302.1 Sherbourne  
PH302.2 Appleby  
PH406.1 Somerton  
PH406.3 Whitton  
PH409.2 Boughton  
PH411.1 Bamburgh  
PH413.1 Haddon  
PH418.1 Wentworth  
PH506.1 Chatsworth  
SH102.1-3  
SH104.1-3  
SH202.1/3  
SH203.1-3  
SH320.1-3  
SH401.1-3  
GL1610 03 Amended Leap Proposal  
1303-005 Rev G Amended Enclosures Plan  
1303-006 Rev B Materials Plan (Notwithstanding the proposed brown rooftiles - 
specific materials to be confirmed)  
20794-HYD-XX-XX-DR-C-0001_T4 Amended Drainage Overview  
20794-HYD-XX-XX-DR-C-0002_T4 Amended Drainage Layout Sheet 1  
20794-HYD-XX-XX-DR-C-0003_T4 Amended Drainage Layout Sheet 2  
20794-HYD-XX-XX-DR-C-0004_T4 Amended Drainage Layout Sheet 3  
20794-HYD-XX-XX-DR-C-0005_T4 Amended Drainage Layout Sheet 4  
20794-HYD-XX-XX-DR-C-0006_T4 Amended Drainage Layout Sheet 5  
20794-HYD-XX-XX-DR-C-0007 T4 Amended Catchment Plan and Notes  
20794-HYD-XX-XX-DR-C-0008_T4 Amended Manhole Schedule  
20794-HYD-XX-XX-DR-C-0100_T3 Amended External Works General 
Overview  
20794-HYD-XX-XX-DR-C-0101_T3 Amended External Works Sheet 1  
20794-HYD-XX-XX-DR-C-0102_T3 Amended External Works Sheet 2  
20794-HYD-XX-XX-DR-C-0103_T3 Amended External works Sheet 3  
20794-HYD-XX-XX-DR-C-0104_T3 Amended External Works Sheet 4  
20794-HYD-XX-XX-DR-C-0105_T3 Amended External Works Sheet 5  
20794-HYD-XX-XX-DR-C-0200_T4 Amended External Levels General 
Overview  
20794-HYD-XX-XX-DR-C-0201_T4 Amended External Levels Sheet 1  
20794-HYD-XX-XX-DR-C-0202_T4 Amended External Levels Sheet 2  
20794-HYD-XX-XX-DR-C-0203_T4 Amended External Levels Sheet 3  
20794-HYD-XX-XX-DR-C-0204_T4 Amended External Levels Sheet 4  

7



 
 

20794-HYD-XX-XX-DR-C-0205_T4 Amended External Levels Sheet 5  
20794-HYD-XX-XX-DR-C-5000_P2 Amended Vehicle Tracking General 
Overview  
C-20794-RP-001_REV 2 Amended SuDS Statement  
1303-007 Noise Bund Section  
Unless otherwise required by another condition of this permission.  
Reason: To define the permission and for the avoidance of doubt.  
 

During Building Works  
 

2. The development hereby permitted shall be undertaken in accordance with a 
Construction Management Plan and Method Statement that shall first be 
approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The Plan and Statement 
shall indicate measures to mitigate the adverse impacts of vehicle movements 
and explain how the drainage of the site will be managed, during the 
construction stage of the permitted development. It shall include;  
o the phasing of the development to include access construction;  
o the on-site parking of vehicles of site operatives and visitors;  
o the on-site loading and unloading of plant and materials;  
o the storage of plant and materials used in constructing the development;  
o wheel washing facilities;  
o a strategy stating how surface water run off on and from the development will 
be managed during construction and protection measures for any sustainable 
drainage features. This should include drawing(s) showing how the drainage 
systems (permanent or temporary) connect to an outfall (temporary or 
permanent) during construction.  
Reason: In the interests of the safety and free passage of those using the 
adjacent public highway and to ensure the permitted development is adequately 
drained without creating or increasing flood risk to land or property adjacent to, 
or downstream of, the permitted development during construction.  
 

3. The permitted development shall be undertaken in accordance with an Estate 
Road Phasing and Completion Plan, which shall first be approved in writing by 
the Local Planning Authority. The Plan shall set out how the construction of the 
development will be phased and standards to which the estate roads on each 
phase will be completed during the construction period of the development.  
 
Reason: To ensure that a safe and suitable standard of vehicular and 
pedestrian access is provided for residents throughout the construction period 
of the development.  
 

4. Before any of the works on the external elevations for the buildings hereby 
permitted are begun, samples of the materials (including colour of any render, 
paintwork or colourwash) to be used in the construction of the external surfaces 
shall have been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning 
Authority.  
 

8



 
 

Reason: To ensure a satisfactory appearance to the development and in 
accordance with Policy EN1 of the adopted South Kesteven Local Plan.  
 

Before the Development is Occupied  
 

5. Prior to first occupation of any of the dwellings hereby permitted, a life saving 
ring and storage post must be provided within 2m of the attenuation basin 
(shown on approved drawing no. 1303-004 Rev S Planning Layout) and must 
be retained for the lifetime of the development, with a suitable replacement 
being provided when necessary.  
 
Reason: In the interests of public safety.  
 

6. Before any part of the development hereby permitted is occupied, the works to 
provide the surface and foul water drainage shall have been completed in 
accordance with the approved details.  
 
Reason: To ensure the provision of satisfactory surface and foul water drainage 
is provided in accordance with Policy EN5 of the adopted South Kesteven Local 
Plan.  
 

7. Before Plot 13 is occupied, the first floor window to the west elevation of Plot 13 
serving an ensuite, shall have been installed with obscure glazing and with no 
opening part being less than 1.7m above the floor level immediately below the 
centre of the opening part. The obscure glazing must be obscured to a 
minimum of Pilkington - Privacy Level 3 or an equivalent product. Once 
installed, the window unit shall thereafter be retained as such at all times.  
 
Reason: To safeguard the privacy of the occupiers of the neighbouring 
properties. 
  

8. Prior to first occupation of each of the dwellings hereby approved, the noise 
mitigation measures as outlined in Section 8 of the noise impact assessment 
report reference 403.13033.00001 dated February 2022 shall have been 
implemented. Prior to installation, specification details of the acoustic glazing 
and passive ventilation systems shall have been submitted to and approved by 
the Local Planning Authority. The mitigation measures shall be installed in 
accordance with the approved details and retained for the lifetime of the 
development.  
 
Reason: In the interest of residential amenity.  
 

9. Before the occupation of any dwellings hereby permitted, Validation Testing of 
the noise attenuation works shall have been carried out and the results 
submitted to and approved by the Local Planning Authority. Such Validation 
Testing shall:  
a) Be carried out in accordance with an approved method statement  
b) Demonstrate that the specified noise levels have been achieved.  

9



 
 

In the event that the specified noise levels have not been achieved, then, 
notwithstanding the sound attenuation works thus far approved, a further 
scheme of sound attenuation works to the relevant dwellings affected, which is 
capable of achieving the specified noise levels recommended by an acoustic 
consultant, shall be submitted to and approved by the Local Planning Authority 
before the use of the development is commenced. Such further scheme of 
works shall be installed as approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority 
before the relevant dwellings are occupied and shall thereafter, be retained.  
 
Reason: To protect future residents from unacceptable noise levels generated 
from traffic on the A1 trunk road.  
 

10. Prior to first occupation of any of the dwellings hereby approved, a minimum of 
2no. safety signs shall have been installed in close proximity to the attenuation 
basin. The signs shall contain safety information/warnings in relation to ice in 
cold weather, and water when the attenuation basin is full. Details of the 
signage are required to be submitted and approved to the Local Planning 
Authority prior to installation.  
 
Reason: In the interests of public safety.  
 

11. Before any part of the development hereby permitted is occupied/brought into 
use, the external surfaces shall have been completed in accordance with the 
approved details.  
 
Reason: To ensure a satisfactory appearance to the development and in 
accordance with Policy DE1 of the adopted South Kesteven Local Plan.  
 

12. The soft landscaping shall be carried out in accordance with the following 
approved plans:  
GL1610 01C Amended Soft Landscaping Proposals  
GL1610 02C Amended Soft Landscaping Proposals (Notwithstanding the 
service strips in front of Plots 54-69 that shall be constructed to the width as 
shown on drawing ref 1303-004 Planning Layout Rev S)  
 
Reason: In the interest of visual amenity. 
 

30. Application S20/1586 
 

Proposal:                                   Section 73 application to vary condition 2 
(approved plans) of permission S16/0112. 
Amendment to the access, associated layout 
changes, house type updates and changes to 
affordable plot numbers of Phase A only. 

Location:                                   Land north of Towngate East and south of 
Northfield Road, Market Deeping 

Recommendation:                   To authorise the Assistant Director for Planning 
to GRANT planning permission subject to the 

10



 
 

completion of a Deed of Variation to the Section 
106 Agreement related to S16/0112 and subject 
to conditions outlined in this report. 

 
Noting comments made in the public speaking session by: 

 
Agent:      Ms Guy 
Against:    Mr Martin Reilly 

 
Together with: 

 

• Provisions within the South Kesteven Local Plan 2011-2036, the National 
Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) and the Deepings Neighbourhood Plan 
2021. 

• No objections from Market Deeping Town Council. 

• No comments received from Heritage Lincolnshire. 

• Comments received from LCC Highways and SuDS. 

• Comments received from Welland and Deepings IDB. 

• No comments from the Environment Agency. 

• Comments received from Lincolnshire Fire and Rescue. 

• No objections from Anglian Water. 
 

During questions to public speakers, Members commented on: 
 

• Clarification was sought that the 9m easement was adhered to.  The applicant 
confirmed that the easement was in place. 

• Were there plans for solar panels to be added to the properties?  The applicant 
confirmed there were no plans for solar panels. 

• Will there be an appropriate amount of public open space?  The applicant 
informed the Committee that the appropriate amount of open space had been 
catered for. 

• If Phase D was refused permission, what would the consequences be for Phase 
A?  The Assistant Director of Planning confirmed that it was the amendments to 
the development that the Committee were to consider and that the assessment 
of Officer’s was that there were no reasonable grounds for refusal.   
 

During questions to officers and debate, Members commented on: 
 

• Were the conditions being complied with? 

• Concerns over the drainage being unresolved. 

• The amendments to the situation of the access road and its potential effects. 

• Whether sufficient properties were affordable homes. 

• Enforcement Team were to be requested to monitor the development closely. 
 

It was proposed that the application be deferred until all existing conditions had been 
compiled with. This proposal was seconded with an amended motion to confirm the 

11



 
 

amount of affordable homes provided along with clarification of the sewage 
arrangements. 

 
It was proposed, seconded and AGREED that: 

 
The Assistant Director for Planning DEFERRED planning permission for the reasons 
noted above. 

 
31. Application S22/0133 

 
Proposal:                                 Proposed alterations and extensions 
Location:                                  Byre Cottage, Village Street, Oasby, NG32 3NA 
Recommendation:                   To authorise the Assistant Director of Planning 

to GRANT PERMISSION subject to conditions. 
 

Noting comments made in the public speaking session by: 
 

District Ward Councillor:         Councillor Sarah Trotter 
Heydour Parish Councillor:      Mr Nicholas Turner 
Applicant’s Agent:                    Mr Clive Wicks, Wicks Associates 

 
Together with: 

 

• Provisions within the South Kesteven Local Plan 2011-2036, the National 
Planning Policy Framework (NPPF). 

• Objections received from Heydour Parish Council. 

• Comments received from SKDC Conservation Officer. 

• Comments received from SKDC Tree Officer. 

• No objections from LCC Highways and SuDS. 

• No comments from Historic England. 
 

During questions to public speakers, Members commented on: 
 

• Have the windows, rainwater guttering, and garage doors been amended as 
advised? The agent clarified that windows would be timber and the guttering 
black cast aluminium, not upvc and the garage doors would be on the side of 
the building and not visible from the street. 

• An explanation was requested as to what constituted a 1.5 storey property.  The 
agent confirmed that the property would have dormer windows and the eaves 
would be underneath the sills. 

• A Member asked what the ridge height on the property would be.  This was 
confirmed as being 6.75 metres. 

• How would the proposal be ‘in keeping with the host dwelling’?  The agent 
informed the Committee that the appearance would be similar in character to 
the building to the left of the plot with a minimal impact on the street scene.  It 
was confirmed that the bungalow was the host dwelling with the proposal 
referring to the extension dwelling. 

12



 
 

• Would the applicant be implementing any climate-change measures?  The 
agent confirmed they were looking to put in underground water storage. 
 

(At 16:00 The Chairman asked the Committee if they agreed for the meeting to be 
extended) 

 
It was proposed, seconded and AGREED to extend the meeting past the three-hour 
threshold. 
 
During questions to officers and debate, Members commented on: 

 

• Were design guidelines being followed? 

• Concern was raised over the proposed increase in height of building which 
would dominate the site. 

• The proposal was considered to not be a positive contribution or sympathetic to 
the surrounding properties in the village.  There was potentially perceived harm 
to the setting of Grade II* listed building, Oasby Manor. 

• A Member asked what would happen in the future if permission was allowed on 
this site.  The conservation area has to be preserved. 

• The plans showed too many roof lines to the proposed building. 
 

It was proposed, seconded and AGREED:  
 

To authorise the Assistant Director of Planning to REFUSE PERMISSION on the 
basis that the proposals are not in keeping with the character of the surrounding 
properties and character of the conservation area. Following wording has been 
agreed by Assistant Director of Planning, Chair and Vice-Chairman of Planning 
Committee and Cllr Selby, who seconded the proposal.  

 
Reason for refusal: 

 
1. The proposed extensions would result in an overly large and high dwelling, in a 

dominant position within the site, with a complicated roofscape. The design, 
position, bulk and massing would be out of keeping with the character and 
appearance of the Oasby Conservation Area. The proposal would not make a 
positive contribution to local distinctiveness or vernacular and is not sympathetic to 
the adjacent dwelling to the south, Paddock Cottage. The proposed extensions 
would therefore result in less than substantial harm to the character and 
appearance of the conservation area and the setting of the nearby Grade II* listed 
building, Oasby Manor. There would be no public benefits as a result of the 
proposal that would outweigh the identified harm. The proposal is therefore 
contrary to Policies EN6, and DE1 of the SKDC adopted Local Plan (2020), Parts 
12 and 16 of the NPPF (2021), Part 2 6G of the adopted Design Guidelines for 
Rutland and South Kesteven (2021), the Rutland County Council Extensions to 
Dwellings SPD, and Sections 66 and 72 of the Planning (Listed Buildings and 
Conservation Areas) Act 1990. 

 

13



 
 

32. Application S22/1326 
 

Proposal:                                  Demolition of a brick shed at the rear of the 
property and the construction of a single storey 
extension to the rear of the property 

Location:                                  10 Ash Close, Fulbeck, Lincolnshire, NG32 3JY 
Recommendation:                   To authorise the Assistant Director for Planning 

to GRANT planning permission, subject to conditions 
 
 

Together with: 
 

• Provisions within the South Kesteven Local Plan 2011-2036, Design Guidelines 
for Rutland and South Kesteven Supplementary Planning Document, the 
National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF). 

• Comments received from Lincolnshire County Council (Highways & SuDS 
Support). 

• No comments received from Ward Councillors. 

• No comments received from Fulbeck Parish Council. 
 

During questions to officers and debate, Members commented on: 
 

• The number of properties within the vicinity who also had rear extension 
development was queried and whether approval of this development would 
allow acceptability for nearby properties to do the same.  

• Whether the terraced houses belonged to South Kesteven District Council.  
 

The Assistant Planning Officer confirmed that there were 3 terraced houses, that did 
not have rear extensions. However, the terraced houses had outbuildings or brick 
sheds.  

 
It was clarified that there was a fall-back position under a prior approval application, 
where residents could submit an application to project beyond the rear of their 
property by 6 metres with a maximum height of 3 metres.  

 
It was confirmed that the terraces houses belonged to South Kesteven District 
Council.  

 
It was proposed, seconded and AGREED to authorise the Assistant Director for 
Planning to GRANT planning permission, subject to the following conditions: 

 
Time Limit for Commencement  

 
1 The development hereby permitted shall be commenced before the expiration 

of three years from the date of this permission.  
 

14



 
 

Reason: In order that the development is commenced in a timely 
manner, as set out in Section 91 of the Town and Country Planning Act 
1990 (as amended).  
 

Approved Plans  
 

2    The development hereby permitted shall be carried out in accordance with the 
following list of approved plans: 

 
i. Location plan received 01 July 2022 
ii. Proposed block plan re. 10 Ash Close – Block Plan, received 18 

August 2022  
iii. Proposed elevations re. 04, received 01 July 2022 Unless 

otherwise required by another condition of this permission. 
 

Reason: To define the permission and for the avoidance of doubt. During 
Building Works  

 
2 Before any part of the development hereby permitted is brought into use, the 

external elevations shall have been completed using only the materials stated in 
the planning application forms unless otherwise agreed in writing by the Local 
Planning Authority.  

 
Reason: To ensure a satisfactory appearance to the development and in 
accordance with Policy DE1 of the adopted South Kesteven Local Plan.  

 
33. Any other business, which the Chairman, by reason of special circumstances, 

decides is urgent 
 

There were none. 
 

34. Close of meeting 
 

The Chairman closed the meeting at 17:08. 
 
 

15



This page is intentionally left blank

16



 

 

 

Planning Committee 

3 November 2022 

  

   

         
  

S22/0978 

Proposal: Erection of 9(no) houses and associated vehicular access 
Location: Former Shirley Croft Hotel Site, Harrowby Road, Grantham 
Applicant: Grange Developments Limited 
Application Type: Full planning permission 

 
Reason for Referral 
to Committee: 

Called in by Councillor A Stokes (adjoining Ward Member) – the 
design of the development is out-of-keeping with the character of the 
area contrary to Policy DE1 of the Local Plan.  
Called in by Councillor C Morgan (Ward Member) – the density of the 
development is unacceptable, and the development would have an 
unacceptable on the amenity of neighbouring properties – contrary to 
Policy DE1 of the Local Plan and the Design Guidelines SPD 
 

Key Issues: Principle of Development 
Design Quality and Visual Impact 
Impact on residential amenity 
Impact on trees, biodiversity and ecology 
 

Technical 
Documents: 

Planning Statement  
Minerals Assessment  
Arboricultural Report 

 

 

Report Author 

Adam Murray, Principal Planning Officer 

 
 01476 406080 

  Adam.Murray@southkesteven.gov.uk 

 

Corporate Priority: Decision type: Wards: 

Growth Regulatory Grantham St Vincent's 

 

Reviewed by: Ellie Sillah, Principal Planning Officer 24.10.2022 

 

17

Agenda Item 4

mailto:Adam.Murray@southkesteven.gov.uk
http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/mgMemberIndex.aspx?bcr=1
https://twitter.com/intent/tweet?text=Meeting%20agenda%20@southkesteven
http://www.linkedin.com/shareArticle?mini=true&url=http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/mgWhatsNew.aspx?bcr=1
http://facebook.com/sharer/sharer.php?u=http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/mgWhatsNew.aspx?bcr=1


 
 

Recommendation (s) to the decision maker (s) 

To authorise the Assistant Director to GRANT planning permission, subject to conditions 

18



 

 
 

S220978 – Former Shirley Croft Hotel Site, Harrowby Road, Grantham   

 

  

19



 

 
 

1 Description of site 
 

1.1 The application site comprises an area of approximately 0.36 hectares (0.89 acres) of 

broadly L-shaped land situated to the east of Harrowby Road and south of Croft Drive, 

positioned to the south-east of the town centre of Grantham. The site slopes from north to 

south with a high point of approximately 61m AOD in the north-western corner, and a low 

point of 59.24m AOD in the south-western corner.  

 

1.2 The site was formerly occupied by the Shirley Croft Hotel, which was a large Victorian 

building that had been subject to various additions, alterations and uses. The building was 

demolished in 2011/12 to allow for residential development of the site (LPA Ref: S11/2436). 

The site currently contains the former coach house building to the rear of the former of the 

Shirley Croft Hotel (situated in the south-eastern corner of the site), which remains occupied 

as flats. These apartments utilise a stone tracked access from Harrowby Road on the 

western side of the site, which was implemented as part of the implementation of planning 

permission for 8 dwellings on the site, which has been partially implemented (LPA Ref: 

S11/2065). With the exception of the above, the site has been largely cleared to make way 

for future development and, therefore, is presently covered in rubble, timber and other 

building materials.  

 

1.3 The site benefits from clearly defined boundaries on all sides. The Harrowby Road boundary 

is marked by a group of horse chestnut trees, a giant redwood / wellingtonia tree, a holly 

and Scott’s Pine; which, with the exception of the holly tree, are protected by Tree 

Preservation Order, beyond which lies a low level brick wall. The site’s northern boundary 

with Croft Drive is similarly marked by a brick wall. The southern boundary of the site, which 

is shared with the rear gardens on residential properties fronting onto St. Vincent’s Drive is 

defined by a close boarded timber fence. Whilst the eastern boundary, which is shared with 

the rear gardens of dwellings on Croft Drive is marked by a blockwork wall.  

 

1.4 As alluded to above, the site is located within a predominantly residential area of Grantham. 

To the north of the site on the opposite side of Croft Drive is a 2-storey dwelling fronting 

onto Harrowby Road (103 Harrowby Road) with the remaining properties comprising of 

detached bungalows set within large plots; the road also provides pedestrian access to the 

St. Anne’s Primary School. To the south of the site, there are a range of 2-storey semi-

detached residential dwellings which front onto St. Vincent’s Road; whilst to the south-west 

of the site is Ilex Cottage, which is a double bay dormer bungalow fronting onto Harrowby 

Road. Properties to the west of the site, on the opposite side of Harrowby Road, are a 

mixture of 2-storey and 3-storey terraced dwellings. 

 

1.5 The site falls within character area CA08a (Cold Harbour Lane and St. Vincent) of the 

Grantham Townscape Character Assessment, which identifies the following key 

characteristics of the area:  

 

- Steadily rising landform from the river valley eastwards.  

- Mostly regular plots, long gardens, St. Vincent’s House and others set on large, 

landscaped plots 

- Building lines mostly consistent to roadsides.  

20



 

 
 

- Material comprise of red and buff bricks, some concrete panels, some tile hanging 

and interlocking tiles.  

- Mostly single and two storey houses. 

 

1.6 As identified above, the site contains a number of trees fronting onto Harrowby Road and 

Croft Drive which are protected by Tree Preservation Order (TPO) and the site is also 

located within a Minerals Safeguarding Area for Limestone as designated under Policy M11 

(Safeguarding of Minerals Resources) of the Lincolnshire Minerals and Waste Local Plan: 

Core Strategy and Development Management Policies DPD (Adopted June 2016). The site 

is not subject to any other planning policy designations.  

 

1.7 Furthermore, as referenced above, the application site benefits from extant planning 

permission for residential development of 8 dwellings, which was granted on appeal in 

October 2012 (S11/2065). This planning permission has been partly implemented through 

the partial construction of Plots 5 and 6 within the north-eastern corner of the site, as well 

as the partial formation of the new entrance onto Harrowby Road. It is understood that the 

delivery of this scheme has been partly mothballed. This planning permission therefore 

represents a valid fallback position, which is a material consideration in the determination 

of the current application.  

 

1.8 In addition, full planning permission has also been granted for the substitution of a house 

type of the scheme approved at appeal; replacing the semi-detached properties at Plot 1 

and 2, with a single 3-storey dwelling. Whilst this dwelling has not been commenced, and 

therefore, the permission has not been implemented, the planning permission was granted 

in October 2020 and, as such, the planning permission remains valid until October 2023. As 

such, this application also falls to be considered as a valid fallback position against which 

the current scheme is to be assessed.  

 

2 Description of proposal 
 

2.1 The current application seeks full planning permission for the erection of 9 (no) dwellings 

and associated vehicular access. In this respect, it is noted that the application scheme has 

been amended throughout its lifetime, which has included a revision to incorporate the 

partially constructed dwellings in the north-east corner of the site within the application 

proposals. As such, the current application proposals would represent an increase in 1 

dwelling, when assessed against the quantum of development approved as part of the 

former appeal scheme.  

 

2.2 The application has been accompanied by a Proposed Block Plan and Proposed Floor 

Plans and Elevations, as well as a series of supporting technical documents, including a 

Minerals Assessment and Arboricultural Impact Assessment. The submitted documents 

indicate that the development would comprise of the following:  

 

2.3 The application scheme would provide 9(no) open market dwellings on the site (including 

the 2 (no) plots, which have been partially constructed under the extant appeal permission). 

The proposed dwellings are proposed to be a mix of 2-storey dwellings, some of which are 

to include development within the roofspace, and are to consist of 5 (no) differing house 

21



 

 
 

types. The proposed dwellings are to comprise of 5(no) 4-bed dwellings and 4 (no) 3-bed 

dwellings. 

 

2.4 The submitted Site Layout demonstrates that the proposed new dwellings would be 

arranged around the central shared drive access from Harrowby Road, whilst the partially 

constructed plots on the north-eastern corner (Plot 4 and 5) front onto Croft Drive. Access 

to the site would utilise the new entrance from Harrowby Road, which was approved as part 

of the appeal permission, and has been partially formed. This access road is expected to 

remain in private ownership and, therefore, a bin collection area has been provided adjacent 

to the entrance onto Harrowby Road.  

 

2.5 The existing horse chestnut trees along the Harrowby Road frontage are shown as being 

retained, with the exception of T1 and T3, which have already been felled, and T2 which is 

proposed to be felled and is located within the rear garden space of proposed Plot 1. The 

existing brick boundary wall fronting on Harrowby Road and Croft Drive are shown as being 

retained, whilst the boundaries with the rear gardens of properties fronting Croft Drive and 

St. Vincent’s Road are shown as being marked by a close boarded fence. The internal 

boundaries between the plots are proposed to be marked by close boarded fencing, whilst 

the front boundaries of the individual plots are to be marked with a beech hedge. The rear 

amenity space for the proposed dwelling is to be laid with grass turf, with the exception of 

the rear terrace areas which are to be paved.  

 

2.6 Plots 1 & 2 are to comprise of detached 2-storey dwellings with accommodation in the 

roofspace and would form 4-bedroom dwellings. These house types include a single storey 

gable end addition to the rear, which would include bi-fold doors in the side elevation. and 

a 2-storey gable addition on the left-hand side elevation. The roofscape would also feature 

rooflight windows on the side elevations. The proposed dwellings would have an overall 

ridge height of 8.73m and an eaves height of 5.48m.The proposed dwellings would each 

feature 2(no) off-street parking spaces situated to the front of the dwelling.  

 

2.7 Plot 3 is similarly to comprise of a detached 2-storey dwelling with accommodation in the 

roofspace and would be a 4-bed dwelling. The house type would also include a single storey 

gable ended addition in the rear and a dormer window in the side elevation. The roofscape 

of the dwelling would also include a number of rooflight windows. As above, the overall ridge 

height of the dwelling would be 8.73m and an eaves height of 5.48m. The proposed dwelling 

would include 2(no) off-street parking space positioned to the front of the dwelling.  

 

2.8 Plots 4 & 5 (which have been partially constructed and were identified as Plot 5 & 6 on the 

appeal scheme) are detached dwellings which front onto Croft Drive; they have pedestrian 

access from Croft Drive but vehicular access from the rear via the private drive. The 

dwellings would be 2-storey dwellings with accommodation in the roofspace; the bedroom 

in the roofspace of these dwellings would be served by front and rear-facing dormer 

windows. These dwellings are proposed to be amended as part of the current application to 

include an additional, single-storey orangery to the rear. Plot 5 is also now shown as having 

a rear detached garage. These dwellings would have an overall ridge height of 9.37m and 

eaves height of 5.3m.  

 

22



 

 
 

2.9 Plots 6 & 9 are to comprise of 2 storey dormer dwellings with a single-storey gable ended 

addition to the rear. These dwellings are to be dual fronted properties with dormer windows 

in the front and rear elevation. The property would also feature a timber framed porch. These 

dwellings are to ground floor windows in the side elevation only. The properties would have 

an overall ridge height of 6.95m and eaves height of 4.65m. The dwellings would benefit 

from sufficient space for 2(no) vehicles to park off-road and Plot 6 would also include a 

single storey detached garage to the side.  

 

2.10 Finally, Plots 7 and 8 are to comprise of pair of semi-detached 2-storey dwellings with 

accommodation in the roofspace; these properties would both be 3-bed dwellings and would 

feature attached, flat roof garages to the side. The dwellings would also feature a single 

storey gable addition to the rear. The dwellings would have an overall ridge height of 8.75m 

and eaves height of 5.725m.  

 

2.11 No details have been provided at this stage about the finished materials of the dwellings or 

the proposed foul and surface water drainage arrangements.  

 

3 Relevant History 
 

Reference Description of Development Decision 

S09/0938  Change of use from hotel to 11 self-contained flats Application Withdrawn 
10.12.09 

S09/2862 Change of use of vacant hotel into 5(no) dwellings (4 
flats and 1 dwelling within the main body of the hotel) 

Approved Conditionally  
19.05.10 

S10/2902 Demolition of former hotel and erection of 6 dwellings Withdrawn 
04.05.11 

S11/2065 Residential development – 8 dwellings (including 
demolition of former hotel) 

Refused  
16.02.12 
 
Appeal Allowed 
12.10.12 

S11/2436 Prior notification of demolition of Shirley Croft Hotel Details not required  
28.10.11 

S13/2098 Approval of details required by Condition 3 (Materials), 
4 (Finished Floor Levels), 5 (Half timbering), 6 
(Drainage), 9 (No dig construction), 11 (Boundary 
treatments), 12 (Landscaping) and 13 (Landscaping) of 
S11/2065 

Approved without 
conditions  
24.03.14 

S14/2639 Confirmation of compliance with Condition 1 of 
S11/2065  

Approved without 
conditions 
17.10.14 

S20/0532 Erection of dwelling (Substitution of Plots 1 and 2 of pp 
S11/2065) 

Approved Conditionally 
23.10.20 

 

4 Policy Considerations 
 

4.1 South Kesteven Local Plan 2011-2036 (Adopted January 2020) 

23



 

 
 

Policy SD1 – The Principles of Sustainable Development in South Kesteven 

Policy SP1 – Spatial Strategy  

Policy SP2 – Settlement Hierarchy 

Policy H2 – Affordable Housing Contributions 

Policy H4 – Meeting All Housing Needs 

Policy EN1 – Landscape Character 

Policy EN2 – Protecting Biodiversity and Geodiversity 

Policy EN4 – Pollution Control  

Policy EN5 – Water Environment and Flood Risk Management 

Policy DE1 – Promoting Good Quality Design 

Policy SB1 – Sustainable Building 

Policy ID2 – Transport and Strategic Transport Infrastructure  

 

4.2 Lincolnshire Minerals and Waste Local Plan: Core Strategy and Development 

Management Policies DPD (Adopted June 2016) 

Policy M11 – Safeguarding of Minerals Resources 

 

4.3 Design Guidelines for Rutland and South Kesteven Supplementary Planning 

Document (Adopted November 2021) 

 

4.4 National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) (Adopted July 2021) 

Section 2 – Achieving sustainable development 

Section 4 – Decision-making 

Section 5 – Delivering a sufficient supply of homes 

Section 9 – Promoting sustainable transport 

Section 11 – Making effective use of land 

Section 12 – Achieving well-designed places 

Section 14 – Meeting the challenge of climate change, flooding and coastal change 

Section 15 – Conserving and enhancing the natural environment 

Section 17 – Facilitating the sustainable use of minerals 

 

5 Representations Received 
 

5.1 Anglian Water 

5.1.1 No comments to make 

 

5.2 Cadent Gas 

5.2.1 No comments received.  

 

5.3 Grantham Civic Society 

5.3.1 No comments received.  

 

5.4 Heritage Lincolnshire 

5.4.1 No comments to make.  

 

5.5 Lincolnshire County Council (Education) 

5.5.1 No comments to make.  

 

24



 

 
 

5.6 Lincolnshire County Council (Highways & SuDS) 

5.6.1 No objections subject to inclusion of conditions and informatives.  

 

5.6.2 There is an extant planning permission in place on this site for 8 units, which has been 

partially implemented with the commencement of construction of 2(no) units, and can still 

be implemented without the need for a Flood Risk Assessment or Ground Investigation. 

Further details of drainage were submitted as part of the discharge of conditions of the 

previous approval.  

 

5.6.3 The site is exempt from the Advanced Payments Code as the road length is less than 100 

yards. 

 

5.7 Lincolnshire County Council (Minerals) 

5.7.1 No comments received. 

 

5.8 Lincolnshire Fire and Rescue 

5.8.1 No comments received.  

 

5.9 Lincolnshire Police Crime Prevention Officer 

5.9.1 No objections. 

 

5.10 NHS Lincolnshire 

5.10.1 No final comments received.  

 

5.10.2 Previous comments on scheme totalling 10 dwellings identified a requirement for Section 

106 contributions towards GP service capacity at St. John’s Centre, St. Peter’s Hill Surgery, 

Vine House Surgery, Harrowby Lane Surgery and Market Cross Surgery.  

 

5.11 MOD Safeguarding 

5.11.1 No safeguarding objections to the proposals.  

 

5.12 SKDC Environmental Protection 

5.12.1 No objections.  

 

5.12.2 Environmental Protection has reviewed the application and recommends that the conditions 

approved in previous decisions be satisfied as recommended.  

 

5.12.3 Subject to the above, we have no further comments to make.  

 

5.13 SKDC Arboricultural Advisor 

5.13.1 Objection.  

 

5.13.2 The trees at the site are subject to a Tree Preservation Order. The trees on the Harrowby 

Road frontage are a material landscape feature with a high degree of merit as public 

amenity.  

 

5.13.3 The previous applications / consents / appeals indicated that the trees on the Harrowby 

Road frontage were / are intended to be retained. 

25



 

 
 

5.13.4 Trees T1 and T3 appear to have been felled. It is proposed to remove the horse chestnut 

trees T2, T4 and T5 to facilitate the development. The accompanying arboricultural report 

states that some damage may have occurred to the roots of these trees. It does not, 

however, provide a thorough assessment of their stability, nor does it consider pruning as 

an option to mitigate any risks. In fact, it says in the schedule, in the case of T4 and T5 that 

there is “no evidence of significant excavation or root damage” and that they have “healthy 

leaf growth indicating no signs of stress”.  

 

5.13.5 The remaining horse chestnut trees have a high degree of merit as a public visual amenity. 

There are an historic green feature in a densely built up part of the town whose loss will 

harm the appearance of the surrounding streetscene. On this basis, I would suggest that 

the layout be re-considered to facilitate the trees T4 and T5.  

 

5.13.6 Units 2 and 3 are sited in close proximity to the giant redwood / wellingtonia tree (T6), the 

holly (T7) and the Scotts Pine (T8). It is my advice that these units are too close to trees T6, 

T7 and T8. T6 in particular has considerable growth potential. I am concerned that the 

relationship described on the layout plan is unsustainable in terms of the potential for above 

ground conflict by the trees dropping leaves / needles, casting shade (in the evenings) and 

generally being overbearing to the dwellings. There is limited outside amenity space, nearly 

all of which is impacted by the trees, This could lead to pressure to prune and remove the 

trees resulting in a loss of amenity.  

 

5.13.7 On the basis of the above, it is my advice that this proposal is not workable from an 

arboricultural perspective. I would suggest that the layout be realigned to allow the retention 

of trees T4, T5, T6, T7 and T8, with the potential room for 2 units in that area.  

 

5.14 SKDC Principal Urban Design Officer 

5.14.1 Neutral  

 

5.14.2 Two properties have been built on Croft Drive already – it is disappointing that these 

dwellings are in different bricks and with different window frames – the darker window 

frames and also the bricks on these properties look much better. 

 

5.14.3 The existing wall at the front, and also on Croft Drive, is clearly a characterful historic feature 

that needs retaining – it looks like both the original and proposed layouts intend to do this. 

It’s a shame that the coping stone and gates have been lost – the original plan proposed to 

retain the original gates.  

 

5.14.4 The original wall at the front is high and also has mature trees set behind – and so if rear 

gardens were to back onto the street, the visual impact would be minimal. However, the 

urban form of the street, and the adjacent properties, is that of dwellings fronting the street 

and set back behind front walls. The new proposal therefore goes against this backing on / 

at 45 degree angles to the street.  

 

5.14.5 The close boarded fence behind the parking for Plot 1 would be visible through the entrance 

and would look unsightly.  

 

26



 

 
 

5.14.6 The new design incorporates the trees and frontage wall within private gardens and this is 

a concern in terms of the preservation of these assets over time.  

 

5.14.7 The approved design for Plots 1-4 had a more general area at the frontage – this would 

hopefully protect the trees and wall more over time. One thing to note is that the hard 

surfacing and parking would be within the RPAs of the trees and this would need to be 

constructed carefully (on the approved layout).  

 

5.14.8 The proposed units on the new layout, in particular Plots 1 and 2, are poorly designed. 

These plots have a weak and undersized gable at the front that is out of proportion. Plot 6 

and 9 on these proposals would, however, be an improvement in terms of appearance.  

 

5.15 Ward Member – Councillor Graham Jeal 

5.15.1 Objection.  

 

5.15.2 The current proposals are out of character with the surrounding environment.  

 

5.15.3 There are a significant number of properties that will suffer a loss of amenity should these 

proposals go ahead. The loss of amenity would be because of loss of daylight, being 

overlooked, loss of green coverage, loss of outlook and increased noise because of the 

higher density of development than was originally proposed.  

 

5.15.4 Whilst there is an appetite for the site to be developed and for housing to return to the site, 

the loss of amenity, the nature of the revision (increased density and height changes) 

suggest that this should not be approved and the Applicant should re-engage with the local 

residents and their elected representatives to develop a more suitable scheme.  

 

5.16 Ward Member – Councillor Charmaine Morgan 

5.16.1 Objection 

 

5.16.2 Neighbouring properties have expressed the risk of overlooking and loss of privacy, in 

particular over their gardens and on St Vincent’s Road, into their living rooms and bedrooms.  

 

5.16.3 The overall density of the development has increased with an additional property in the 

latest design.  

 

5.16.4 The properties are described as family homes but there is insufficient safe play space for 

children. Whilst there are local parks in the vicinity, this would require younger children to 

be accompanied by adults and to access Dysart Park, which requires crossing Bridge End 

Road.  

 

5.16.5 The new houses will be of a higher elevation than the existing neighbouring properties which 

will be affected by light pollution from the new homes, especially in the night and winter.  

 

5.16.6 There is inadequate space to store was bins outside of the houses. The lack of outdoor 

space means bin storage for those family homes backing onto St Vincent’s Road would emit 

smells from bins, especially in the summer, affecting residents of 7-11 St Vincent’s Road.  

27



 

 
 

5.16.7 The road is not expected to be adopted. This is a poor policy which will result in longer term 

issues for residents and brings into question the suitability of the road for emergency 

vehicles, especially fire engines.  

 

5.16.8 Ilex Cottage, which sits on the edge of the access road, will be affected by noise and fumes 

from vehicles waiting to exit the site.  

 

5.16.9 The lack of available parking within the site, given the size of the houses, will result in 

overflow parking on Harrowby Road and Croft Drive. Both of which already have overflow 

from existing Victorian neighbouring streets, including St Annes and the Harrowby Road 

terraced properties opposite. Croft Drive is a cul-de-sac; there are already issues on this 

road during school hours due to the proximity of St Anne’s Primary School.  

 

5.16.10 The plan does not include safe pedestrian access to the site or within the site. This is 

particularly concerning given the family home status of the proposal.  

 

5.16.11 The new development is overbearing. The houses on St. Vincent’s Road are already 

impacted by the oppressive nature of the existing new build homes on the Shirley Croft site, 

which will dominate their rear view due to the elevation difference.  

 

5.16.12 The gaps between the properties are very small and will have a negative impact on the 

amenity of the new residents. 

 

5.16.13 The overall design is not in keeping with either the character of Croft Drive or Harrowby 

Road and does not adequately reflect the previous Victorian hotel, the site’s proximity to the 

St Anne’s Conservation Area nor the otherwise leafy suburban character of the area.  

 

6 Representations as a Result of Publicity 
 

6.1 The application has been advertised in accordance with the Council’s Statement of 

Community Involvement and 20 letters of representation have been received, all of which 

have raised formal objections to the application. The letters of representation have raised 

the following material considerations:  

 

1. The density of the development is unacceptable – the current proposals are 

contrary to the evaluation of the site by the Inspector for the previous appeal.  

2. The applicant has failed to include the existing permission in the current 

scheme and has sought to avoid affordable housing contributions as a 

result.  

3. Three storey dwellings would not be in keeping with the scale of 

development in the surrounding area.  

4. The proposed development would adversely impact on the character and 

appearance of this part of the town. The scheme does not reflect the 

surrounding properties which comprise of terraced homes on Harrowby 

Road and more spacious, single dwellings with sizeable gardens on Croft 

Drive.  

28



 

 
 

5. The proposed dwellings would have an unacceptable impact on residential 

amenity of surrounding properties on St Vincent’s Road and Croft Drive, by 

way of loss of privacy and loss of light 

6. Noise and air quality impacts associated with the increase in vehicular 

movements.  

7. The proposal would result in the removal of trees and would not include 

appropriate replacement planting.  

8. There is insufficient parking included within the proposals 

9. The site entrance onto Harrowby Lane has limited visibility for vehicles 

travelling southbound.  

 

7 Evaluation 
 

7.1 Section 38(6) of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 requires that the Local 

Planning Authority makes decisions in accordance with the adopted development Plan 

unless material considerations indicate otherwise. The Council adopted the South Kesteven 

Local Plan 2011-2036 on 30 January 2020, and this forms the development plan for the 

District and is the basis for decision-making in South Kesteven.  

 

7.2 Furthermore, the Lincolnshire Minerals and Waste Local Plan: Core Strategy and 

Development Management Policies DPD (Adopted June 2016) forms part of the 

development plan in relation to mineral planning.  

 

7.3 The Local Planning Authority have also adopted a Design Guidelines Supplementary 

Planning Document (SPD) (Adopted November 2021), and this document is a material 

consideration in the determination of planning applications.  

 

7.4 The policies and provisions set out in the National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) (“the 

Framework”) (Adopted July 2021) are also a relevant material consideration in the 

determination of planning applications.  

 

7.5 In addition, as referenced above, it is acknowledged that the site benefits from extant 

planning permission for residential development for 8 dwellings, which was approved on 

Appeal in October 2012 (LPA Ref: S11/2065). This planning permission has been partially 

implemented through the commencement of construction of Plots 5 and 6, in the north-west 

corner of the site, as well as the formation of the approved access onto Harrowby Road. 

The LPA formally confirmed that there had been a material commencement to development 

through application S14/2639. As such, this planning permission represents a valid fallback 

position, which is a material consideration in the assessment of this application.  

 

7.6 Similarly, it is also noted that full planning permission has been granted for the substitution 

of Plots 1 and 2 of the approved scheme, with a single 3-storey dwelling (LPA Ref: 

S20/0532). Whilst this dwelling has not been commenced and, therefore, this permission 

has not been implemented; the planning permission was granted in October 2020 and as 

such, remains valid until October 2023. As such, this permission also falls to be considered 

as a valid fallback position against which the current assessment of the application should 

be viewed.  

29



 

 
 

7.7 In respect of the above, it is noted that planning permission S20/0532 was granted as a 

standalone planning permission, separate from the previous appeal approval (S11/2065) 

and, therefore, these two permission remain intact and unamended. It is therefore the 

decision of the Applicant to determine which permission to fully implement.   

 

7.8 Principle of Development 

 

7.8.1 As referenced above, the principle of residential development on the site has already been 

established through the extant planning permissions. The original planning permission 

granted on Appeal has established that the principle of residential development for 8 

dwellings on the site is acceptable. In this respect, the current application, which proposes 

9 dwellings across the total site, proposes an increase in the quantum of development on 

the site by 1 (no) dwelling.  

 

7.8.2 In connection with the above, it is noted that representations received from members of the 

public and Ward Members have supported the redevelopment of the site for residential 

purposes, subject to material considerations. However, the representations have raised 

concerns about the increase in the quantum of development on the site, and have stated 

that the increased quantum would result in a density of development that would not be 

appropriate for the site’s location and context.  

 

7.8.3 In respect of the proposed increase in the quantum of development on the site, Local Plan 

Policy SP1 (Spatial Strategy) outlines the overall spatial strategy for the District during the 

plan period, in particular the focus of the majority of growth is in and around the four market 

towns, with Grantham being a particular focal point for development. Development 

proposals that make the most effective use of previously developed land will also be 

encouraged. In connection with the above, decisions about the location and scale of new 

development will be taken on the basis of the settlement hierarchy.  

 

7.8.4 Policy SP2 (Settlement Hierarchy) identifies Grantham as being the focus for the majority 

of new development with a view to supporting and strengthening its role as a sub-regional 

centre. It states, “New development proposals will be supported on appropriate and 

deliverable brownfield sites and on sustainable greenfield sites (including urban extensions), 

where development will not compromise the town’s nature and character”.  

 

7.8.5 In addition, Policy SP3 (Infill Development) identifies that infill development, which is in 

accordance with all other relevant Local Plan policies, will be supported provided that:  

 

(a) It is within a substantially built-up frontage or redevelopment opportunity 

(previously development land)  

(b) It is within the main built-up part of the settlement 

(c) It will not cause unacceptable impact on the occupiers’ amenity of adjacent 

properties 

(d) It does not extend the pattern of development beyond the existing built form; and  

(e) It is in keeping with the character of the area and is sensitive to the setting of 

adjacent properties.  

 

30



 

 
 

7.8.6 Furthermore, Section 5 of the National Planning Policy Framework seeks to significantly 

boost the supply of homes. Paragraph 69 of the Framework identifies that small- and 

medium-sized sites can make an important contribution to meeting the housing requirement 

of an area, and are often built-out relatively quickly. In order to promote the development of 

a good mix of sites, Local Planning Authorities should “support the development of windfall 

sites through their policies and decisions – giving great weight to the benefits of using 

suitable sites within existing settlements for homes”.  

 

7.8.7 Likewise, Section 11 of the Framework encourages the effective use of land. Paragraph 120 

of the NPPF states that “planning policies and decisions should promote and support the 

development of under-utilised land and buildings, especially if this would help to meet 

identified needs for housing where land supply is constrained and available sites could be 

used more effectively”.  

 

7.8.8 In the context of the above, as previously referenced it is appreciated that the application 

site comprises the former Shirley Croft Hotel site, which has since been demolished to 

enable residential re-development of the site to take place, as well as the remaining former 

coach house, which is currently occupied as apartments. In this respect, the site in its current 

form is defined as previously developed land and does not make any positive contribution 

to the existing streetscene.  

 

7.8.9 The application proposes the delivery of 9(no) residential dwellings in a mixture of 3- and 4-

bed, 2-storey, detached and semi-detached properties. As such, the application proposals 

would represent an opportunity to develop an underutilised site within the main built-up area 

of Grantham, that would provide a windfall development scheme. In this regard, the proposal 

to increase the quantum of development on the site by 1 (no) dwelling, when assessed in 

the context of the fallback position provided by the extant appeal permission, would be in 

accordance with the overall spatial strategy for the District and is supported by the 

Framework.  

 

7.8.10 With respect to the representations received on the basis that the application proposals 

would be over-development of the site, and would be of an inappropriate density, the 

application site involves the delivery of 9(no) residential dwellings on a site of 0.36 hectares. 

On this basis, the density of residential development on the site would equate to 

approximately 25 dwellings per hectare, which is considered to be appropriate for a location 

within the main built-up area of a town. In view of the above, the quantum and density of 

development on the site would be appropriate.  

 

7.8.11 Notwithstanding the above, in view of the site’s locational characteristics and context, it is 

Officers’ assessment that the application proposals are in accordance with criteria (a), (b) 

and the first part of (d) of Local Plan Policy SP3. With regards to criteria (c) and the second 

part of (d), these detailed design considerations are assessed against the relevant material 

considerations discussed below.  

 

7.8.12 Taking all of the above into account, including the fallback position provided by the extant 

planning permissions, it is Officers’ assessment that the application proposals would accord 

with the principles of the adopted spatial strategy as set out in Policies SP1, SP2 and SP3 

of the adopted Local Plan, as well as Section 5 and 11 in the Framework. Therefore, the 

31



 

 
 

principle of development for 9 dwellings on this site is acceptable, subject to material 

considerations. These matters have been assessed in detail below.  

 

7.9 Meeting All Housing Needs / Affordable Housing Contributions 

 

7.9.1 As referenced above, the current application proposals seek planning permission for the 

erection of 9(no) dwellings, all of which are proposed to be delivered as open market 

housing. It is appreciated public representations received on the application have referred 

to the application proposals failing to include the existing, partially constructed dwellings 

within the application and, therefore, seeking to avoid affordable housing contributions.  

 

7.9.2 In respect of the above, it is acknowledged that the application proposals have evolved 

during the determination of the scheme. In particular, following a request from the Case 

Officer, the application site boundary was revised to include the partially completed 

dwellings in the north-eastern corner of the site, to enable the assessment of the 

development as a whole. The proposals have since been subsequently reduced from 10 to 

9 dwellings following comments from the SKDC Arboricultural Advisor.  

 

7.9.3 Local Plan Policy H2 (Affordable Housing Contributions) seeks to meet the needs for 

affordable housing within the District by requiring “all developments comprising 11 or more 

dwellings (or greater than 1000m2 gross floorspace) to make provision for 30% of the 

scheme’s total capacity as affordable housing, except within the urban area of Grantham as 

defined on the Policies Map where the affordable housing requirement on such 

developments will be 20%).  

 

7.9.4 In this case, the application proposals comprises 9 dwellings and would exceed 1000 sq. 

metres of gross floorspace and, therefore, would be required to provide 20% affordable 

housing in order to comply with Local Plan Policy H2. The current application proposes that 

all of the dwellings would be open market dwellings and, therefore, there is a clear conflict 

with the requirements of Policy H2.  

 

7.9.5 However, in assessing the weight to be attributed to this conflict with the development plan, 

it should be noted that Paragraph 64 of the National Planning Policy Framework states that 

“provision of affordable housing should not be sought on residential developments that are 

not major developments, other than in designated rural areas (where policies may set out a 

lower threshold of 5 units or fewer). To support the re-use of brownfield land, where vacant 

buildings are being reused or redeveloped, any affordable housing contribution due should 

be reduced by a proportionate amount”.  

 

7.9.6 Furthermore, Annexe 2 (Glossary) of the Framework defines major development as being 

“for housing, development where 10 or more homes will be provided, or the site has an area 

of 0.5 hectares of more. For non-residential development, it means additional floorspace of 

1,000m2 or more, or a site of 1 hectare or more, or as otherwise provided in the Town and 

Country Planning (Development Management Procedure) (England) Order 2015”.  

 

7.9.7 As alluded to above, the current application scheme proposals 9 dwellings and on a site of 

approximately 0.36 hectares and, therefore, in accordance with the National Planning Policy 

Framework would not fall to be defined as a major development. As a consequence, as 

32



 

 
 

identified in the national policy, the application proposals would not meet the threshold for 

triggering an affordable housing contribution.  

 

7.9.8 Taking the above into account, it is accepted that the Council’s current Local Plan was 

assessed against the National Planning Policy Framework (2012) and was adopted prior to 

the latest iteration the Framework (Adopted July 2021). In this respect, the thresholds for 

requiring affordable housing contributions set out in Local Plan Policy H2, are inconsistent 

with policies set out within the National Planning Policy Framework and the Planning 

Practice Guidance. In view of this, it is Officers’ assessment that limited weight should be 

attributed to the conflict with Local Plan Policy H2 in the overall planning balance.   

 

7.9.9 With regards to the mix of property sizes across the development scheme, Policy H4 

(Meeting All Housing Needs) identifies that a range of house types and sizes are required 

across the District to meet the needs of current and future households. Section 5 of the 

Framework also sets out the requirement to provide a sufficient amount and variety of land 

to meet the size, type and tenure of housing to meet the needs of different groups in the 

community.  

 

7.9.10 The Strategic Housing Market Assessment (SHMA) 2014 recommends that housing 

provision in the District should be monitored against the following broad mix up to 2036:  

 

 1-bed 2-bed 3-bed 4+ bed 

Market 0-5% 30-35% 45-50% 15-20% 

 

7.9.11 The submitted application proposals would provide the following housing mix:  

 

 1-bed 2-bed 3-bed 4+ bed 

Market 0% 0% 45% 55% 

 

7.9.12 In this respect, it is noted that the proposed housing mix would not include any provision for 

smaller dwellings as identified in the recommended housing mix contained in the Strategic 

Housing Market Assessment. However, it is appreciated that the application site is a 

constrained, brownfield site where the delivery of the previous proposals has stalled. In this 

respect, it is appreciated that provision of larger dwellings, with a higher market value, are 

likely to be necessary to achieve delivery of dwellings on this site.  

 

7.9.13 Notwithstanding the above, it is noted that Local Plan Policy H4 refers to “major proposals 

for residential development” and the SHMA requirements are recommended to be applied 

to the District as a whole and not necessarily on a case-by-case basis. In this respect, it is 

noted that there have been a number of applications within Grantham, which have focused 

on alternative housing types including smaller housing stock, without providing for larger 

family homes. As such, the current application proposals would assist in securing a 

balanced housing market across the Town as a whole.  

 

7.9.14 Similarly, it is also appreciated that the approved appeal proposals would result in 4(no) 4-

bed dwellings and 4(no) 3-bed dwellings. Whilst the more recent approved for the 

substitution of Plots 1 and 2 with a single 3-bed dwelling would result in the mix of dwellings 

comprise 2(no) 4-bed dwellings and 5 (no) 3-bed dwellings.  

33



 

 
 

7.9.15 As such, it is Officers’ assessment that the current application would not materially alter the 

mix of dwellings proposed on the site, when assessed in the context of the mix of dwellings 

approved as part of the extant appeal permission and the subsequent substitution of plot 

types, and therefore, the mix of dwellings proposed is acceptable. 

 

7.9.16 Taking the above into account, it is concluded that the provision of 9(no) open market 

dwellings on the site would be contrary to Policy H2 of the adopted Local Plan, which 

requires affordable housing contributions on all residential developments of 11 or more 

dwellings (or where the gross floorspace exceeds 1,000 sq. metres). However, it is accepted 

that the thresholds for requiring affordable housing contributions contained within Policy H2 

are inconsistent with the most up-to-date national guidance contained within the National 

Planning Policy Framework (July 2021) and the Planning Practice Guidance, which states 

that affordable housing contributions should not be sought on residential developments that 

are not major developments. In this regard, the application scheme would not fall to be 

defined as a major development as set out in Annex 2 of the Framework and, as such, would 

not be required to provide affordable housing contributions. Therefore, it is Officer’s position 

that the weight to be attributed to the conflict with Policy H2, in the overall planning balance, 

is limited.  

 

7.9.17 In addition, it is concluded that the proposed housing mix would be in accordance with Policy 

H4 of the adopted South Kesteven Local Plan and Section 5 of the Framework.    

 

7.10 Design Quality and Visual Impact 

 

7.10.1 Local Plan Policy DE1 (Promoting Good Quality Design) states (amongst other criteria) that 

to ensure high quality design is achieved throughout the District, all development proposals 

will be expected to make a positive contribution to local distinctiveness, vernacular and 

character of the area. Proposal should reinforce local identified and not have an adverse 

impact on the streetscene, settlement pattern or the landscape / townscape of the 

surrounding area. Proposals should be of an appropriate scale, density, massing, height 

and material given the context of the area.  

 

7.10.2 The adopted Design Guidelines SPD (Adopted November 2021) identifies that the detailed 

design of a proposal should influenced by its context and should consider the relationship 

between the site and other buildings, routes and spaces, views and vistas, facilities, 

architectural details and the landscape. The appearance and architectural landscape of the 

surrounding buildings should be drawn upon and influence the detailed design.  

 

7.10.3 Section 12 of the NPPF states that good design is a key aspect of sustainable development, 

creates better places in which to live and work, and helps make development acceptable to 

communities. New development should be visually attractive as a result of good 

architecture, layout and appropriate landscaping and should be sympathetic to local 

character, including the surrounding built environment, while not preventing or discouraging 

appropriate innovation or change. Development that is not well design, and fails to reflect 

local design policies, should be refused.  

 

7.10.4 In relation to the above it is noted that representations received from the Ward Member and 

public representations have raised objections on the basis that the overall design of the 

34



 

 
 

development is not in keeping with the character of the surrounding area, and that the scale 

of the development is not in keeping with the scale of dwellings surrounding the site.  

 

7.10.5 In respect of the scale of the proposed dwellings, as referenced above, the current 

application scheme proposes a mix of 2-storey dwellings, many of which are to include 

accommodation within the roofspace. The height of the dwellings would range of 6.95 

metres (Plot 6 & 9) to 9.37 metres (Plot 4 & 5).  

 

7.10.6 With regards to this, as detailed above, the site falls within character area CA08a (Cold 

Harbour Lane and St. Vincent) of the Grantham Townscape Character Assessment, which 

identifies that development within the area consists primarily of single- and two-storey 

dwellings. However, it is appreciated that properties to the west of the site, on the opposite 

side of Harrowby Road, include a mixture of 2-storey and 3-storey terraced dwellings. In this 

respect, it is Officers’ assessment that the scale of the proposed development would be 

broadly consistent with the scale of the surrounding development and would not appear as 

being out-of-context.  

 

7.10.7 Furthermore, it is also noted that the extant appeal permission, proposed dwellings which 

are of a larger scale than the current application proposals. For example, Plots 4 & 5 of the 

current submission (which are the dwellings approved in the appeal scheme that have been 

partially built out) would have a maximum height of 9.37m; whilst Plots 1-4 of the approved 

scheme are indicated as being two pairs of 3-storey semi-detached houses with an overall 

ridge height of 9.55m above ground level. Taking the above into account, when assessed 

in the context of the fallback position provided by the extant appeal permission, the scale of 

development proposed by the current scheme is deemed to be acceptable.  

 

7.10.8 With reference to the representations received which have raised concerns that the layout 

of the proposed development would not reflect the character of the area, which is suggested 

to comprise of individual dwellings situated within large plots, Officers would accept that 

there are negative features of the layout shown on the submitted plans. In particular, it is 

Officers’ assessment that the arrangements of Plots 1-3 at the front of the site would not 

reflect the existing urban form of the area or principles of good quality design.  

 

7.10.9 The Council’s Principal Urban Design Officer has recognised this within their comments on 

the application stating “the original wall at the front is high and also has mature trees set 

behind – and so if rear gardens were to back onto the street, the visual impact would be 

minimal. However, the urban form of the street and the adjacent properties, is that of 

dwellings fronting the street and set behind front walls. The new proposal therefore goes 

against this by backing onto / at 45 degree angle to the street”.  

 

7.10.10 Similarly, Building for a Healthy Life (BfHL) is a nationally recognised metric for assessing 

design quality, and identifies the following as a principle of good design “create a network 

of streets and spaces that are well enclosed by buildings and / or structural landscaping, 

taking care to ensure that front doors and the principal facades of buildings face streets and 

public spaces”. Good design is therefore recognised as incorporating a perimeter block 

layout, where properties front onto the street to provide active frontages.  

 

35



 

 
 

7.10.11 In this regard, the Plots 1-3 of the proposed layout would not reflect the existing character 

of the area, or accepted principles of good design, insofar as they would back onto / be at 

a 45 degree angle to Harrowby Road and Croft Drive. However, in assessing the impact of 

these arrangement on the character of the area, Officers’ accept that the site is well 

screened by the existing boundary wall and mature TPO trees and, therefore, the visual 

impact of this on the area would be limited. Likewise, it is acknowledged that the fenestration 

of the rear elevations of these plots would be sufficient to ensure that the layout would not 

harm the overall character of the area.  

 

7.10.12 With respect to the appearance of the individual house types, it is noted that the Urban 

Design Officer has also raised concerns about these matters, in particular Plot 1 and 2 of 

the development, which are stated to be poorly designed due to the weak and undersized 

gable at the front of the dwelling. However, the Urban Design Officer has indicated that Plot 

6 and 9 of the new proposals would represent an improvement in terms of the appearance 

of the dwellings, when assessed against the extant appeal permission.  

 

7.10.13 Furthermore, Officers’ appreciated that Plots 7 & 8 of the approved scheme would comprise 

of 2-storey semi-detached dwellings with limited fenestration, which serves to exacerbate 

the massing and bulk of these dwellings. In addition, the inclusion of an attached, flat roof 

garage provides an unsightly feature, which is incongruous with the remainder of the 

development scheme. However, it is noted that these properties would be an alternative 

house type to the semi-detached house type proposed for Plots 1-4 of the appeal 

permission. When assessed in this context, the current application proposals would be 

narrower in width / bulk than the approved dwellings and would be lower in overall height 

and, therefore, would represent an improvement on these dwellings.   

 

7.10.14 In addition, it is noted that the current application proposals would retain the existing wall 

fronting onto Harrowby Road and Croft Drive, but does not propose to retain the original 

gates situated at the north-west corner of the site. These gates are considered to be an 

attractive historic feature, which were proposed to be retained and fixed shut as part of the 

appeal permission, and therefore, their loss represents an adverse impact when assessed 

against the fallback position. Furthermore, the Urban Design Officer has advised that the 

proposed 1.8m close boarded fence to the rear of the parking area for Plot 1 – which is 

situated adjacent to the entrance to the site – would be visible from the streetscene and 

would provide an unsightly feature. It is Officers’ view that this would be more appropriate 

designed with a brick wall to match to proposed treatment on the opposite side of the access 

route and this amendment is proposed to be secured via planning condition.  

 

7.10.15 Alongside the revised layout and designs of the new dwellings, the current application also 

proposes minor, material alterations to the design of the approved, partially implemented 

dwellings in the north-east corner of the site (Plot 4 & 5 on the submitted plans). These 

amendments include the addition of a single-storey, gable ended orangery to the rear of the 

approved dwellings, as well as the inclusion of an additional window at first floor level of the 

eastern elevation, which is proposed to serve a bedroom. It is Officers’ assessment that the 

proposed revisions to these house types would be relatively minor and would not materially 

alter the overall design quality of these dwellings, when assessed against the extant 

permission and, therefore, would be deemed acceptable.  

36



 

 
 

7.10.16 Taking all of the above into account, when assessed in the context of the fallback position 

provided by the extant appeal decision, it is Officers’ assessment that, on balance, the 

application proposals would provide an acceptable layout, design, massing, scale, and 

appearance which would not give rise to any unacceptable adverse impacts on the 

character and appearance of the area. Consequently, it is concluded that the application 

proposals would accord with Policy SP3, DE1 and EN1 of the adopted Local Plan, the 

adopted Design Guidelines SPD and Section 12 of the Framework, although appropriate 

conditions are proposed.  

 

7.11 Impact on Residential Amenity 

 

7.11.1 In respect of the impact of the proposed development on the residential amenity of existing 

properties in the area, it is noted that representations received from the public as well as the 

Ward Members have raised objections on the grounds of the impact of the development on 

the existing residents of Croft Drive, St. Vincent’s Road and Ilex Cottage. In particular, it is 

stated that the proposed dwellings would result in the loss of privacy for residents, as well 

as the proposed dwellings causing a loss of light and overbearance towards these 

properties. In connection with the above, the Ward Member has stated that proposals for 

the windows in the rear elevations to have obscured glazing would be ineffective due to the 

difference between the scale of the proposed dwellings and the existing properties, which 

include a number of bungalows. Similarly, it is stated that the issues with the loss of light for 

neighbouring properties would be exacerbated by the fact that the application site is situated 

at a higher level than the neighbouring properties.  

 

7.11.2 In this regard, Local Plan Policy DE1 (Promoting Good Quality Design) states (amongst 

other criteria) that all developments will be expected to ensure that there is no adverse 

impact on the amenity of neighbouring users in terms of noise, light pollution, loss of privacy 

and loss of light, and should provide sufficient amenity space, suitable to the type and 

amount of development proposed.  

 

7.11.3 Furthermore, the adopted Design Guidelines SPD (Adopted November 2021) identifies a 

series of standards that are to be utilised when assessing the quality of residential amenity 

provided by development proposals. The following standards are considered to be 

particularly relevant to the current proposals:  

 

(a) Where practical, windows should not look onto private areas of other homes, 

including habitable rooms (living rooms, dining rooms and bedrooms), kitchens and 

patio areas in gardens immediately adjoining the building 

(b) The ’45-degree rule’ states that there is normally the potential to achieve adequate 

levels of daylight and outlook when no part of a building cuts through a horizontal 

line radiating at 45 degrees from the centre of a window that lights a habitable 

room.  

(c) The ’25-degree rule’ states that there is normally the potential to achieve adequate 

levels of daylight and outlook when no facing building breaks a 25 degree angle 

from the horizontal from a point 2 metres above the floor level. This rule takes 

account of changes of level between buildings.  

(d) Where habitable rooms face the rear of a home, a back-to-back privacy distance 

of 21m window to window will be applied for 2 storey properties; and 28m window 

37



 

 
 

to window for 3-storey properties. Where habitable windows face a blank two-

storey elevation, a separation distance of 14m will be applied.  

 

7.11.4 Using the standards set out within the adopted Design Guidelines, the following conclusions 

can be reached in respect of the relationship between the development and the existing 

properties on Croft Drive and St. Vincent’s Road as well as Ilex Cottage:  

 

Croft Drive 

7.11.5 In respect of the relationship between the dwellings on Croft Drive and the proposed 

development, it is noted that the partially completed Plots 4 and 5 are the proposed 

dwellings closest to the existing properties. The relationship between these plots and the 

dwellings on the northern side of Croft Drive has previously been considered acceptable by 

the Appeal Inspector and remains unchanged from the extant permission. As such, this 

relationship is considered to be acceptable.  

 

7.11.6 It is noted that the current proposals do include some minor alterations in the design of the 

approved plots, including the provision of a first floor window in the eastern elevation of Plot 

5. Whilst this window, which would serve a bedroom, would face towards 12 Croft Drive to 

the immediate east; this existing dwelling, which is a bungalow, does not include any 

windows in the facing elevation (west) and, therefore, the proposed first floor window would 

not give rise to any unacceptable impacts on privacy.  

 

7.11.7 With regards to the relationship between the existing dwellings to the east of the site, where 

Croft Drive, wraps around the application site, the most relevant proposed dwelling is Plot 6 

in the south-east corner of the site. This proposed dwelling would be situated perpendicular 

to the rear elevation of the dwellings on Croft Drive, and the eastern elevation of this dwelling 

would not feature any windows above ground floor level. As such, there would not be any 

issues with overlooking from the proposed dwelling towards the existing dwelling.  

 

7.11.8 In respect of the habitable windows in the rear elevation of these existing properties, the 

submitted Block Plan indicates that these windows would be separated from the blank 

elevation of Plot 6 by a distance of 20 metres; this accords with the minimum requirement 

of 14m included within the adopted Design Guidance. Similarly, in view of the scale of the 

proposed dwelling and the separation distances, the Plot 6 would not break the 25-degree 

line and therefore, would not have an adverse impact on the outlook of these dwellings.  

 

7.11.9 Consequently, the application proposals are assessed as complying with the requirements 

of the adopted Design Guidelines SPD in respect of the proposed relationship with existing 

dwellings on Croft Drive.  

 

St. Vincent’s Road 

7.11.10 In respect of the relationship between the dwellings on St. Vincent’s Road and the proposed 

development, the submitted Site Layout proposes that Plots 6-9 would be positioned back-

to-back with the rear gardens of the existing properties fronting onto St. Vincent’s Road. It 

is noted that the approved appeal scheme would have included an arrangement whereby 

only 1 plot (Plot 8) would have been positioned perpendicular to this boundary.  

 

38



 

 
 

7.11.11 In this respect, it is appreciated that Plots 6 & 9 are two storey dwellings with a single storey 

gabled ended addition to the rear, which would feature habitable windows serving a 

bedroom in the rear elevation. Similarly, Plots 7 & 8 are proposed to be two-storey dwellings 

incorporating accommodation in the roofspace, which also include a gable ended, single-

storey addition to the rear; these dwellings would feature habitable windows at the first floor 

level, serving bedrooms, and would feature non-habitable windows at the second floor level 

which would provide light to bathrooms. With regards to the potential for overlooking / loss 

of privacy, it is accepted that the layout of these dwellings would provide opportunities for 

future occupants of the site to overlook the rear gardens and elevations of properties fronting 

onto St. Vincent’s Road.  

 

7.11.12 However, it is noted that these existing dwellings benefit from long gardens and, as such, 

the availability of views from the proposed dwellings is not considered to detract from the 

provision of an appropriate level of private amenity space for these dwellings. In addition, 

the submitted Plans demonstrate that there would be a separation distance of a minimum 

of 32.5 metres from the rear elevation of the existing dwellings to the 2-storey built form of 

the proposed dwellings. This separation distance would accord with the relevant standards 

set out in the adopted Design Guidelines SPD. It is proposed to include conditions requiring 

the 2nd floor bathroom windows of Plots 7 & 8 to be obscure glazed and non-opening to 

ensure that there are no adverse impacts on privacy resulting from these windows.  

 

7.11.13 Furthermore, in view of the separation distances between the existing and proposed 

dwellings, as well as the height of the proposed dwelling, taking into account the levels 

differences, it is concluded that the scale of the development would not break the 25-degree 

line. As such, the proposed dwellings would not have an unacceptable adverse impact on 

the outlook of these dwellings.  

 

7.11.14 Consequently, subject to conditions, the application proposals are assessed as complying 

with the adopted Design Guidelines SPD in respect of the relationship with existing 

dwellings fronting St. Vincent’s Road.  

 

Ilex Cottage 

7.11.15 Ilex Cottage is an existing dormer bungalow situated immediately south-west of the 

application site, fronting onto Harrowby Road.  

 

7.11.16 With regards to the impact of the proposed development on the privacy of this dwelling, the 

nearest proposed property is Plot 1. This dwelling is orientated at an angle to the access 

road, which would be positioned between the existing proposed dwelling, such that the side 

elevation of Plot 1 would face Ilex Cottage. This western elevation would feature first and 

second floor windows, which would not be habitable windows as they would serve 

bathrooms. These windows are to be obscure glazed and non-opening, and this is proposed 

to be secured via planning condition. Subject to these conditions, there would be no 

unacceptable impacts from Plot 1 in respect of loss of privacy to Ilex Cottage.  

 

7.11.17 In addition, it is appreciated that Plot 9 is situated perpendicular to the boundary with Ilex 

Cottage. The submitted elevations for this house type indicate that there would be no 

windows in the western elevation of this dwelling and, as such, there is no potential for 

overlooking from this dwelling towards Ilex Cottage.  

39



 

 
 

7.11.18 In respect of the impact of this dwelling on the outlook from Ilex Cottage, the submitted Block 

Plan demonstrates that there would be a separation distance of 14.1m between the blank 

elevation of Plot 6 and the rear windows of Ilex Cottage. Similarly, the proposed dwelling 

would not break the 25 degree line from the rear of Ilex Cottage. 

 

7.11.19 Consequently, subject to conditions, the application proposals would comply with the 

adopted Design Guidelines SPD standards in respect of the relationship with Ilex Cottage.  

 

7.11.20 Notwithstanding the above, it is noted that representations received from the Ward Member 

has raised concerns about the impact of the proposed development on neighbouring 

properties in respect of noise pollution; both during construction and occupation. In this 

regard, it is acknowledged that the extant appeal permission does not include any 

requirement for the development to be carried out in accordance with a Construction 

Environmental Management Plan or any conditions to limit noise pollution during 

construction. However, it is accepted that noise emissions from construction are a 

temporary matter and, therefore, would not be a sufficient reason to refuse planning 

permission. In any event, construction sites are expected to follow good practice guidance 

to minimise noise during construction periods; including acceptable times for noisiest works 

and deliveries. In the event that noise levels were to reach an unreasonable level during 

construction, this would be addressed through a statutory nuisance complaint, which falls 

under separate Environmental Protection legislation.  

 

7.11.21 With regards to noise generated during occupation of the dwellings, it is generally accepted 

that residential dwellings are not classed as particularly noisy uses and, the siting of new 

residential homes in an existing residential location would be a compatible arrangement. 

Notwithstanding the above, the current application proposals fall to be assessed against the 

existing appeal permission which remains extant. Whilst the layout and orientation of the 

dwellings has changed, and the current scheme proposals 1(no) additional unit, it is Officers’ 

assessment that this does not materially alter the levels of noise generated by occupation 

of the application site and would not represent a valid reason for refusal. The Council’s 

Environmental Protection Officer has been consulted on the application scheme and has 

raised no objections on these matters.  

 

7.11.22 Furthermore, representations received on the application have also expressed concerns 

about the relationship between the proposed dwellings and the level of amenity that would 

be available for future occupants. In particular, it is stated that the gaps between Plots 1-3 

are small and would have a negative impact in terms of outlook and light for the side 

elevations of these dwellings. In this respect, Officers’ would accept that these dwellings are 

positioned closely together which is likely to mean that there is limited daylight serving the 

windows in the side elevations of these dwellings. However, it is noted that these windows 

are all serving non-habitable rooms i.e., bathrooms / utility rooms and, therefore, the 

adopted Design Guidelines SPD does not explicitly require such rooms to benefit from 

adequate daylight. In terms of the bifold doors in the side elevations of the single storey, 

gable ended addition; the submitted plans indicate that these dwellings are orientated such 

that these windows would face towards the neighbouring single-storey addition and, 

therefore, would accord with the 25 degree standard for daylight. Nonetheless, it is also 

appreciated that proposed purchasers of these dwellings would be aware of the proposed 

relationship between these properties and would, therefore, need to satisfy themselves that 

40



 

 
 

it would provide them with an acceptable level of amenity. Therefore, it is not considered 

that there would be any grounds to refuse the application on this basis.  

 

7.11.23 In respect of the availability of private amenity space for the development, Plots 1-3 would 

benefit from lengthy gardens which would provide between 175 sq. metres and 275 sq. 

metres; this is considered to be adequate private amenity space for these dwellings. Plots 

4 & 5 have a slightly reduced private garden space, when compared to the extant appeal 

permission, however these dwellings would still benefit from gardens exceeding 110 sq. 

metres and therefore, this is considered to be sufficient. Similarly, Plot 6-9 would also benefit 

from private rear gardens of approximately 110 sq. metres and, therefore, this is considered 

to be appropriate for these dwellings.  

 

7.11.24 Finally, with regards to the representations from the Ward Member in relation to the 

availability and accessibility of formal play space, the current application must be assessed 

in the context of the extant appeal permission. This fallback permission did not include any 

form of planning obligations requiring the implementation of formal open space either on 

site, or contributions to enhanced provision within the immediate vicinity. In this context, the 

current application would result in a net increase of 1 dwellings compared to the extant 

permission and, therefore, it is Officers’ assessment that it is not proportionate to include 

any obligation for the current scheme to provide formal open space.  

 

7.11.25 Taking the above into account, subject to the imposition of conditions, it is concluded that 

the proposal would not have any unacceptable adverse impacts on neighbouring properties 

and would secure an appropriate level of amenity for all existing and future occupants. As 

such, the proposal would accord with Local Plan Policy SP3 and DE1, the adopted Design 

Guidelines SPD, and Section 12 of the Framework in this regard,  

 

7.12 Impact on trees, ecology and biodiversity 

7.12.1 As identified previously, it is appreciated that the Scotts Pine (T8) located on the northern 

boundary of the site (facing Croft Drive) is subject to an individual Tree Preservation Order, 

whilst the mature trees fronting onto Harrowby Road are covered by a group TPO.  

 

7.12.2 The submitted Site Layout Plan indicates that the existing boundary trees fronting Croft 

Drive and Harrowby Road are proposed to be retained, with the exception of T1 and T3, 

which have already been felled, and T2 (horse chestnut) which is proposed to be removed 

to facilitate the development of Plot 1’s parking area.  

 

7.12.3 In connection with the above, it is noted that representations received on the application 

have raised objections to the loss of the horse chestnut tree, as well as concerns about the 

lack of replacement tree provision included within the application scheme.  

 

7.12.4 Local Plan Policy EN2 (Protecting Biodiversity and Geodiversity) identifies that the Council 

will facilitate the conservation, enhancement and promotion of the District’s biodiversity and 

geological interests of the natural environment. This includes seeking to enhance ecological 

networks and seeing to deliver a net gain on all proposals.  

 

7.12.5 In addition, the National Planning Policy Framework requires planning decisions to 

contribute to and enhance the natural environment by minimising impacts on and providing 

41



 

 
 

net gains for biodiversity. Paragraph 131 of the Framework specifically identifies that threes 

can make an important contribution to the character and quality of an environment and new 

development should seek to retain existing trees and incorporate new trees, wherever 

possible.  

 

7.12.6 In respect of the above, the Applicant has submitted an Arboricultural Impact Assessment, 

and the findings of this assessment have been reviewed by the Council’s Arboricultural 

Advisor. In reviewing the findings of the assessment, and the submitted application 

proposals, the Council’s consultee has raised a formal objection to the application. In doing 

so, the Tree Officer has confirmed that they have no objections to the removal of T2 (horse 

chestnut) subject to the provision of an appropriate replacement tree; the current proposed 

site layout does not include any proposals for replacement planting, however, this could be 

secured via planning condition.  

 

7.12.7 Notwithstanding the above, the Tree Officer has advised that Units 2 and 3 are situated too 

close to T6, T7 and T8 and that there may be potential for conflict due to the trees dropping 

leaves / needs, casting shade and generally being overbearing to these dwellings, which 

could lead to pressure to prune and remove these trees. 

 

7.12.8 In response to the above, the Applicant has submitted additional details seeking to justify 

the current scheme in the context of the fallback position provided by the extant appeal 

decision. In doing so, they have stated that the Root Protection Areas (RPAs) indicated on 

the approved Site Layout are inaccurate, and have submitted indicative drawings showing 

the correct RPAs in the context of the approved scheme.  

 

7.12.9 In view of the above, it is suggested that full implementation of the fallback appeal 

permission would give rise to previously unanticipated adverse impacts on these existing 

trees, namely:  

 

(a) The approved development would have likely resulted in the loss of T7 (Holly), as 

it is positioned within the approved turning head.  

(b) The turning head would also be highly likely to lead to damage to and / or pressure 

to remove the Scotts Pine (T8) due to the proximity of the access road and turning 

head, and due to part of Plot 1 being located within the RPA.  

(c) There would be likely to be further harm to T4, T5, T9 and T10 through the 

construction and use of the access road and the car parking spaces for Plots 1-3.  

(d) Cars parked in the spaces at the front of the site under the crown spread of these 

trees would be vulnerable to branch, leaf and sap fall, which could lead to pressure 

for their removal.  

 

7.12.10 In comparison, it is suggested that the current application would result in benefits to the 

retention of the existing trees and the relationship with the proposed dwellings, when 

compared to the fallback position:  

 

(a) None of the trained trees would be under immediate threat of removal or major 

works, due to the location of the dwellings outside of the RPAs 

(b) There would be no access roads or car parking under the trees; the trees would be 

within the rear gardens of dwellings.  

42



 

 
 

(c) Most rooms to the rear of Plots 1-3 have secondary windows and so would not 

suffer from low levels of light caused by shading from the canopies of the trees.  

(d) The proposed dwellings have garden sizes which are more than double those of 

Plots 1-4 on the approved scheme, and would all have an appropriate area which 

sits outside of the crown spread of the retained trees.  

(e) The size of the gardens proposed and the distance that the dwellings are from the 

trees would not lead to any undue pressure for works to those trees, or their 

removal.  

 

7.12.11 Following receipt of the above, Officers’ have requested further comments from the 

Council’s Arboricultural Advisor and any updated comments received will be reported 

through the late items paper. However, Officers’ are minded to accept the evidence 

submitted by the Applicant in respect of the potential impacts on trees arising from the 

approved appeal scheme and, therefore, would acknowledge that, in this context, the 

current application proposals would represent a betterment in respect of the relationship 

between these trees and the proposed dwellings. Thus, subject to conditions requiring 

replacement tree planting, the application proposals would accord with Policy EN2 in 

respect of trees.  

 

7.12.12 In respect of the impact of the proposed development on biodiversity and ecology, it is 

appreciated that the application site is largely characteristic of a construction site – with the 

exception of the remaining coach house / apartments – and is, therefore, unlikely to contain 

any assets of ecological value. In addition, it is appreciated, that the fallback appeal 

permission could be implemented in full without the need for any ecological surveys and 

without the need to deliver a net gain in biodiversity. As such, in assessing the current 

application in that context, it is not considered to be proportionate to require the Applicant 

to submit any additional information demonstrating how the application scheme would 

deliver an overall biodiversity net gain.  

 

7.12.13 Notwithstanding the above, the submitted Site Layout indicates that the front boundary of 

Plots 1-3 would be marked by a beech hedge, and the existing boundary trees are to be 

retained (with the exception of T2). Furthermore, it is proposed to include a condition 

requiring the submission of details of replacement tree planting, to mitigate against the loss 

of T2, and subject to these additional details, the application scheme would achieve a 

suitable net gain.  

 

7.12.14 Taking the above into account, subject to conditions requiring the submission of 

replacement tree planting details, the application proposals are considered to accord with 

Policy EN2 of the Local Plan and Section 5 and 14 of the Framework in respect of trees and 

ecology.  

 

7.13 Pollution Control 

7.13.1 It is appreciated that public representations received on the application have raised 

concerns about noise pollution generated by the additional traffic movements associated 

with the current proposals. Similarly, the Ward Members have expressed concerns about 

the potential for unacceptable impacts on air quality resulting from idling vehicles waiting to 

exit the site, as well as the potential for adverse odour emissions from the bin collection 

areas and any bin storage areas for the proposed dwellings.  

43



 

 
 

7.13.2 In connection with the above, when assessed in the context of the fallback position, the 

increase in 1 (no) unit on the application site is likely to generate a small increase in vehicle 

movements and, therefore, the associated increase in noise and air pollutants are likely to 

be minimal. In respect of air quality, the application site is located within the main urban area 

of Grantham where future occupants would have opportunities to access local services and 

facilities via sustainable modes of transport, and the site is not located within the Air Quality 

Management Area that is centred on Grantham Town Centre. As such, the site is not 

considered to be particularly vulnerable to an increase emissions related to vehicles. 

 

7.13.3 In respect of noise, as a matter of principle, any noise generated by vehicles accessing the 

development is unlikely to reach the threshold of being considered a statutory nuisance and, 

therefore, would not be a valid reason to withhold planning permission.  

 

7.13.4 Notwithstanding the above, the Council’s Environmental Protection Officer has been 

consulted on the application proposals and have confirmed that they have no objections to 

the scheme.  

 

7.13.5 Taking the above into account, the application proposals would not give rise to any 

unacceptable risks of ground contamination or pollution. As such, the proposed 

development would be in accordance with Policy EN4 of the adopted South Kesteven Local 

Plan and Section 15 of the Framework.  

 

7.14 Access, Highways Infrastructure and Parking 

7.14.1 It is noted that representations received on the application, from the Ward Member and 

members of the public, have raised concerns in relation to highway safety and highways 

capacity. In particular, it is stated that the application scheme fails to include adequate off-

street parking within the site, which is likely to result in overflow to surrounding streets, to 

the detriment of safety and capacity on these routes. In addition, it is stated that the 

application proposals fail to incorporate a safe pedestrian access into the site, and would 

not benefit from suitable visibility splays.  

 

7.14.2 In respect of the above, it is noted that the current application scheme proposes to utilise 

the approved access arrangements, which were approved as part of the extant appeal 

decision. As such, the suitability of this access arrangement in terms of highways safety and 

visibility has previously been deemed acceptable and cannot be revisited by the current 

scheme.  

 

7.14.3 In terms of the availability of parking within the site, the submitted Site Layout indicates that 

the proposed dwellings would each benefit from off-street parking for 2(no) spaces, 

including the provision of a single garage of Plots 5-8. This would fall short of the standards 

set out within Lincolnshire County Council Design Approach and Development Road 

Specification which requires dwellings with 3 or less bedrooms to have 2 parking spaces, 

and dwellings with 4 or more bedrooms to have 3 parking spaces.  

 

7.14.4 Nonetheless, as referenced above, it is considered that the application site benefits from 

being within an urban location, where local services and facilities are within a reasonable 

walking distance and can be accessed via sustainable transport modes. As such, future 

occupants of the development would not be reliant on the private vehicle, and therefore, 

44



 

 
 

parking is not considered to be essential for the proposal. Similarly, it is also noted that the 

approved appeal scheme, would also fail to provide sufficient parking in terms of the County 

Council’s current design standards. Therefore, the shortage of parking when assessed 

against the County Council’s guidance is not considered to be sufficient to refuse the 

application.  

 

7.14.5 It is noted that the Ward Member has also expressed concerns about the intention for the 

access road to remain as a private drive, particularly in respect of issues with future 

maintenance.  

 

7.14.6 In this regard, Lincolnshire County Council (as Local Highways Authority) have been 

consulted on the application proposals and they have confirmed that they have no 

objections to the scheme. In commenting on the application, they have indicated that the 

site is exempt from the Advanced Payments Code (which is a statutory mechanism for 

ensuring that new streets are constructed to a satisfactory standard) due to the site access 

being less than 100 yards. Notwithstanding the above, the future maintenance of the access 

road would be a private matter, which is expected to be controlled by a private management 

company that covers the development.  

 

7.14.7 Taking the above into account, it is concluded that the application site benefits from a 

location which would encourage future occupants to travel to / from the site via sustainable 

modes of transport. The proposals are not considered to give rise to any unacceptable 

impact on highways safety and capacity. Consequently, the application proposals have 

been assessed as being in accordance with Policy ID2 and Section 9 of the Framework in 

respect of access and highways matters.  

 

7.15 Flood Risk and Drainage Infrastructure 

7.15.1 In respect of flood risk and drainage matters, it is noted that there have been no 

representations received on the application on these points. 

 

7.15.2 In any event, the application site is located within Flood Zone 1 of the Flood Map for Planning 

and is also predominantly identified as being very low risk of surface water flooding; with the 

exception of a small area around the northern boundary of the site, which is identified as 

being medium risk. Overall, the site is considered to present a low risk of flooding.  

 

7.15.3 In connection with the above, it is accepted that the principle of residential development on 

the site has been established through the extant appeal permission and, therefore, the 

scheme is considered to be sequentially acceptable.  

 

7.15.4 It is noted that the current submission does not provide any details in respect of the proposal 

surface and / or foul water drainage arrangements. However, as part of the submission of 

details reserved by condition for the appeal permission, it was proposed that foul and 

surface water would be collected within a private sewer network situated underneath the 

approved access drive and subsequently discharged to existing Anglian Water mains 

sewers in Harrowby Road. Given that the approved private drive has been partially 

constructed, it is expected that these drainage arrangements would be utilised to serve the 

current, revised proposals.  

45



 

 
 

7.15.5 In respect of the above, Lincolnshire County Council (as Lead Local Flood Authority) have 

acknowledged that the extant planning permission can still be implemented without the need 

for a Flood Risk Assessment or Ground Investigation and that the details of drainage were 

approved as part of the approval of conditions relating to this appeal. As such, they have 

raised no objections.  

 

7.15.6 Similarly, Anglian Water have been consulted on the application scheme, and they have 

declined to provide comments.  

 

7.15.7 As such, subject to the imposition of conditions requiring the implementation of the 

previously approved drainage strategy, the application proposals would not give rise to any 

unacceptable risks of flooding and, therefore, would accord with Policy EN5 of the adopted 

South Kesteven Local Plan and Section 14 of the National Planning Policy Framework.  

 

7.16 Climate Change 

7.16.1 As previously identified, the application proposals would involve the redevelopment of a 

brownfield site located within the main built-up area of Grantham, and therefore, is deemed 

to be an appropriate location for residential development. As such, the application scheme 

would accord with the locational principles of Policy SD1.  

 

7.16.2 Nonetheless, it is acknowledged that the application submission does not specifically 

provide any details about how the proposed scheme would comply with the policy 

obligations of Local Plan Policy SB1; which requires development to minimise carbon 

dioxide emissions and support low carbon travel through the provision of electric vehicle 

charging points. However, it is considered that this could be appropriately addressed 

through the imposition of conditions requiring the submission of further details of sustainable 

building measures.  

 

7.16.3 Therefore, subject to the imposition of conditions securing further details of sustainable 

building measures, the proposal would represent sustainable development when assessed 

as a whole and would accord with the requirements of Policy SB1 and SD1 of the adopted 

Local Plan.  

 

7.17 Minerals Safeguarding 

7.17.1 As previously identified, the application site is located within a Minerals Safeguarding Area 

for Limestone as designated under Policy M11 (Safeguarding of Minerals Resources) of the 

Lincolnshire Minerals and Waste Local Plan. This policy states that applications for non-

minerals development should be accompanied by a Minerals Resource Assessment.  

 

7.17.2 The application has been accompanied by a Minerals Assessment produced by Hughes 

Craven (Ref: HC/0793/2). This assessment identifies the following key conclusions:  

 

- The geology of the area is shown on the British Geological Survey (BGS) sheet 

127 ‘Grantham’, which confirms that the site is immediately underlain by deposits 

consisting of Quaternary sands and gravels of the Belton Sand and Gravel 

Member.  

46



 

 
 

- These superficial deposits are limited in both their extent and thickness and are not 

specifically safeguarded within the Minerals and Waste Local Plan. As such, they 

are not considered to represent a potentially viable mineral resource.  

- Accordingly, it is concluded that there is no potential for the recovery of any mineral 

resource from the site, either as wider prior extraction or as incidental extraction.  

- The closest safeguarded material is located in excess of 250m from the site, further 

to which any mineral in the immediate surrounding is already effectively sterilised 

by the presence of existing residential properties. Accordingly, there is considered 

to be negligible potential for the extraction of mineral from land adjacent to the site 

and the development will not result in the proximal sterilisation of any economic 

mineral resource.  

- In light of the above, it is concluded that the Development is of a minor nature that 

will have negligible impact with regard to sterilising any economic mineral resource 

and will not impact current or proposed minerals operations.  

 

7.17.3 In respect of the above, Lincolnshire County Council (as Local Minerals Planning Authority) 

have been consulted on the application proposals but have not provided any comments.  

 

7.17.4 Notwithstanding the above, it is appreciated that the development scheme is of a minor 

nature which is considered to have a negligible impact on the sterilisation of minerals 

resources and, likewise, in view of the existing neighbouring residential properties, prior 

extraction of any mineral resource would be impractical.  

 

7.17.5 Taking the above into account, the application proposals would accord with Policy M11 of 

the Lincolnshire Minerals and Waste Local Plan.  

 

8 Crime and Disorder 
 

8.1 It is considered that the proposal would not result in any significant crime and disorder 

implications. Lincolnshire Police Crime Prevention Office has been consulted on the 

application and has raised no objections.  

 

9 Human Rights Implications 
 

9.1 Articles 6 (Rights to fair decision making) and Article 8 (Right to private family life and home) 

of the Human Rights Act have been taken into account in making this recommendation. It is 

considered that no relevant Article of that Act will be breached 

 

10 Planning Balance and Conclusions 
 

10.1 Section 38(6) of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 requires that the Local 

Planning Authority makes decisions in accordance with the adopted Development Plan, 

unless material considerations indicate otherwise. In this respect, the application site 

benefits from an extant planning permission for 8(no) dwellings, which was granted on 

Appeal in 2012, and has been partially implemented with the commencement of 

construction of 2 dwellings as well as the formation of the approved private access from 

Harrowby Road. As such, this previous planning permission represents a valid fallback 

position, which is a material consideration in the assessment of the current application.  

47



 

 
 

10.2 In this case, the application proposals seek permission for the erection of 9(no) open market 

dwellings on the application site, which represents a net increase of 1(no) dwelling when 

assessed against the fallback position. In this respect, the principle of residential 

development on the site has previously been established by the extant appeal permission. 

The increase in the quantum of dwellings on the site represents the opportunity to make 

effective use of a previously developed site located within the main built-up area of 

Grantham and, therefore, would be in accordance with the broad principles of the Council’s 

spatial strategy as set out in Local Plan Policies SD1, SP1, SP2 and SP3. As such,  the 

application scheme is acceptable in principle, subject to material considerations.  

 

10.3 In connection with the above, it is accepted that the provision of 9(no) open market dwellings 

on the site would be contrary to Local Plan Policy H2, which requires affordable housing 

contributions on all residential developments of 11 or more dwellings (or where the gross 

floorspace exceeds 1,000 sq. metres). However, it is acknowledged that the thresholds 

contained within Policy H2 are inconsistent with the most recent national guidance 

contained within the National Planning Policy Framework (July 2021) and the Planning 

Practice Guidance, which state that affordable housing contributions should not be sought 

on residential developments that are not major development. In this respect, the application 

proposals would not fall to be defined as major development as set out in Annex 2 of the 

Framework, and therefore, would not meet the threshold for requiring affordable housing 

contributions. Taking the above into account, it is Officers’ assessment that the weight to be 

attributed to the conflict with Policy H2 is limited.   

 

10.4 Furthermore, when assessing the design quality and visual impact of the application 

proposals, whilst Officers’ have identified some flaws with the submitted scheme, it is 

concluded that, on balance, the application proposals would provide an acceptable layout, 

design, massing, scale and appearance of development that would not result in any 

unacceptable visual impacts or harm to the character and appearance of the area. 

Furthermore, having regard to the proposed scheme and the separation distances between 

the dwellings and the existing residential properties, the application proposals would not 

give rise to any unacceptable adverse impacts on neighbouring land uses, subject to 

conditions.  

 

10.5 In addition, the application scheme would comply with the adopted development plan, in 

respect of all technical matters.  

 

10.6 Taking the above into account, subject to the imposition of conditions, the application 

proposals would accord with the adopted development plan when taken as a whole, albeit 

there is an identified conflict with Local Plan Policy H2. There are no material considerations 

of sufficient weight to indicate that planning permission should not be granted, although 

appropriate conditions are recommended.  

 

11 Recommendation 
 

11.1 To authorise the Assistant Director – Planning to GRANT planning permission subject to the 

following conditions:  

 

Time Limit for Commencement  

48



 

 
 

1. The development hereby permitted shall be commenced before the expiration of three years 

from the date of this permission.  

 

Reason: In order that the development is commenced in a timely manner, as set out in 

Section 91 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 (as amended).  

 

Approved Plans 

 

2. The development hereby permitted shall be carried out in accordance with the following list 

of approved plans:  

 

a. Proposed Block Plan (Dated 14 September 2022) 

b. Proposed Plot 1 and 2 (Dated 14 September 2022) 

c. Proposed Plot 3 (Dated 14 September 2022) 

d. Proposed Plot 4 and 5 (Dated 14 September 2022) 

e. Proposed Plot 6 and 9 (Dated 14 September 2022) 

f. Proposed Plot 7 and 8 (Dated 14 September 2022) 

g. Proposed Plot 5 and 6 Garage Plan (Dated 14 September 2022) 

 

Unless otherwise required by another condition of this permission.  

 

Reason: To define the permission and for the avoidance of doubt.  

 

During Building Works 

 

Materials Details 

 

3. Before any works on the external elevations of the dwellings hereby permitted are begun, 

details of the materials (including colour of render, paintwork or colourwash) to be used in the 

construction of the external surfaces of the development hereby permitted shall have been 

submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority.  

 

Reason: To ensure a satisfactory appearance to the development and in accordance with 

Policy DE1 of the adopted Local Plan.  

 

Boundary Treatments – Revised Plan 

 

4. Notwithstanding the submitted plans, no development above damp-proof course on Plots 1-

3 and 6-9 shall take place until there have been submitted to and approved in writing by the 

Local Planning Authority, a plan indicating the positions, design, materials and type of 

boundary treatment or means. Such plan should include details of a low level brick wall 

positioned to the rear of the bin collection point and proposed parking area for Plot 1 indicated 

on the approved Proposed Block Plan (Dated 14 September 2022).  

 

Reason: To ensure a satisfactory appearance to the development and in accordance with 

Policy DE1 of the adopted Local Plan.  

 

Sustainable Building Details 

 

49



 

 
 

5. No development above damp-proof course on Plots 1-3 and 6-9 shall take place until details 

demonstrating how these dwellings would comply with the requirements of Local Plan Policy 

SB1 and SD1 have first been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning 

Authority. The scheme shall include details of how carbon dioxide emissions would be 

minimised through the design and construction of the dwellings; details of water efficiency; 

and the provision of electric car charging points.  

 

The approved sustainable building measures shall be completed in full, in accordance with 

the scheme, prior to the occupation of each dwelling.  

 

Reason: To ensure the development mitigates and adapts to climate change in accordance 

with Local Plan Policy SB1 and SD1.  

 

Tree Protection Measures 

 

6. Notwithstanding the submitted details, no development above damp proof course on the 

dwellings hereby permitted shall take place until a Tree Protection Scheme for all retained 

trees (including protection plan) and method statement, has been submitted to and approved 

in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The method statement and plan shall meet with 

the standards set out in BS5837:2012 Trees in Relation to Design, Demolition and 

Construction – Recommendations. The protection scheme and plan shall be completely 

implemented prior to any further site preparation, clearance and building works in site, and 

shall not be removed until entirely complete. The protection scheme must include details of 

all trees to be retained and the positioning of tree protection fencing and ground covers to 

create construction exclusion zones. No retained tree shall be cut down, uprooted or 

destroyed, nor shall any retained tree be pruned in any manner without the prior written 

approval of the Local Planning Authority. An arboricultural site monitoring protocol shall be 

agreed with and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority in respect of tree 

protection.  

 

Reason: In the interests of amenity, tree health and for the avoidance of doubt.  

 

Replacement Tree Planting 

 

7.  Notwithstanding the submitted details, no development above damp-proof course on the 

dwellings hereby permitted shall take place until a replacement tree planting scheme has 

been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The new tree 

planting scheme shall include a plan showing the location of the proposed trees in the context 

of the layout and a schedule specifying the species, size, support and future management. It 

will avoid the creation of a monoculture and take into account the appearance of the existing 

landscape. The development shall thereafter be carried out in full in accordance with the 

approved statement and planting plan.  

 

Reason: In the interests of amenity and landscape consistency.  

 

Before the Development is Occupied 

 

Materials Implementation 

50



 

 
 

8. Before any part of the development hereby permitted is occupied, the dwellings must have 

been completed in accordance with the approved external materials details.  

Reason: To ensure a satisfactory appearance to the development and in accordance with 

Policy DE1 of the adopted South Kesteven Local Plan.  

 

Access Implementation 

 

9. Means of vehicular access to the permitted dwellings shall be from Harrowby Road only. No 

dwelling shall be occupied until the vehicle access and turning head have been constructed 

in accordance with the approved Proposed Block Plan (Dated 14 September 2022).  

Reason: In the interests of highway safety.  

 

Boundary Retention 

 

10. Other than the works that are necessary to widen and improve the access to the site, as 

shown on the approved Proposed Block Plan (Dated 14 September 2022), the boundary wall 

along the Harrowby Road frontage shall be retained and / or where necessary, rebuilt in the 

same position to the same height as existing in the same materials, style (including coursing 

of stone) and dimensions as existing. These works shall be completed before the occupation 

of any of the dwellings hereby permitted.  

 

Reason: To ensure a satisfactory appearance to the development and in accordance with 

Policy DE1 of the adopted South Kesteven Local Plan.  

 

Obscure Glazing 

 

11. Before any part of the development hereby permitted is occupied, the first and second floor 

windows of Plot 1 and the second floor bathroom window of Plot 7 & 8, as shown on the 

approved plans Proposed Plot 1 and 2 (Dated 14 September 2022) and Proposed Plot 7 and 

8 (Dated 14 September 2022) shall have been installed with obscure glazing and with no 

opening part being less than 1.7m above the floor level of immediately below the centre of 

the opening part. The obscure glazing must be obscured to a minimum of Pilkington – Privacy 

Level 3 or an equivalent product. Once installed, the window units shall thereafter be retained 

as such at all times.  

 

Reason: To safeguarding the privacy of the occupiers of the neighbouring / adjoining 

properties. 

  

Surface and Foul Water Drainage Implementation 

 

12. Before any part of the development hereby permitted is occupied, the scheme for surface 

and foul water drainage as approved under application ref: S13/2098 shall have been 

completed or provided on the site in accordance with the approved details. The approved 

scheme shall be retained and maintained in full, in accordance with the approved scheme. 

  

Reason: To ensure that the permitted development is adequately drained without creating or 

increasing flood risk to land or property adjacent to, or downstream of, or upstream of, the 

permitted development and to prevent environmental and amenity problems arising from 

flooding, in accordance with Local Plan Policy EN5.  

51



 

 
 

 

Boundary Treatments 

 

13. Before any part of the development hereby permitted is occupied, the boundary treatments 

as approved under Condition 4 shall have been completed in accordance with the approved 

details.  

 

Reason: To ensure a satisfactory appearance to the development and in accordance with 

Policy DE1 of the adopted South Kesteven Local Plan. 

 

Hard and Soft Landscaping Implementation  

 

14. Before any part of the development hereby permitted is occupied, all hard and soft 

landscaping works shall have been carried out in accordance with the approved landscaping 

details.  

 

Reason: Hard and soft landscaping make an important contribution to development and its 

assimilation with its surroundings and in accordance with Policy DE1 and EN1 of the adopted 

South Kesteven Local Plan.  

 

Standard Note(s) to Applicant 

 

1. In reaching this decision, the Council has worked with the applicant in a positive and proactive 

manner by determining the application without undue delay. As such, it is considered that the 

decision is in accordance with Paragraph 38 of the National Planning Policy Framework.  

 

2. Please contact the Lincolnshire County Council Streetworks and Permitting Team on 01522 

782070 to discuss any proposed statutory utility connections and any other works which will 

be required within the public highway in association with the development permitted under 

this Consent. This will enable Lincolnshire County Council to assist in the coordination and 

timings of these works. For further guidance please visit our website via the following links:  

Traffic Management - https://www.lincolnshire.gov.uk/traffic-management  

Licences and Permits - https://www.lincolnshire.gov.uk/licences-permits 

 

3. The road serving the permitted development is approved as a private road which will not be 

adopted as a Highway Maintainable at Public Expense (under the Highways Act 1980). As 

such, the liability for the future maintenance of the road will rest with those who gain access 

to their property from it.  

 

4. The permitted development requires the formation of a new / amended vehicular access. 

These works will require approval from the Highway Authority in accordance with Section 184 

of the Highways Act. The works should be constructed in accordance with the Authority’s 

specification that is current at the time of construction. Relocation of existing apparatus, 

underground services or street furniture will be the responsibility of the applicant, prior to 

application. For application guidance, approval and specification details, please visit:  

https://www.lincolnshire.gov.uk/licences-permits/apply-dropped-kerbs or contact 

vehiclecrossings@lincolnshire.gov.uk  

 

52

https://www.lincolnshire.gov.uk/traffic-management
https://www.lincolnshire.gov.uk/licences-permits
https://www.lincolnshire.gov.uk/licences-permits/apply-dropped-kerbs
mailto:vehiclecrossings@lincolnshire.gov.uk


 

 
 

Site Location Plan 

 

53



 

 
 

Approved Site Layout 

 

54



 

 
 

Approved House Types 

Plots 1-4 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

55



 

 
 

Plot 5 & 6 

 

Plot 7 & 8 

 

 

 

 

 

 

56



 

 
 

Plot 1 & 2 – Substituted house type approval 

 

57



 

 
 

Proposed Site Layout 

 

58



 

 
 

Proposed House Types 

Plot 1 & 2 

 

59



 

 
 

Plot 3 

 

60



 

 
 

Plot 4 & 5 

 

61



 

 
 

Plot 6 & 9 

 

62



 

 
 

Plot 7 & 8 

 

63



 

 
 

Applicant Tree Impacts Plan 

 

64



 

 
 

Applicant House Comparison Plan 

 

65



 

 
 

Financial Implications reviewed by: Not applicable 

 

Legal Implications reviewed by: Not applicable 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

66


	Agenda
	3 Minutes of the meeting held on 8 September 2022
	Minutes

	4 Application S22/0978

